

Modern Techniques in Detection, Identification and Quantification of Bacteria and Peptides from Foods

JANETTA HAKOVIRTA

Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology Division of Microbiology Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki

Dissertationes bioscientiarum molecularium Universitatis Helsingiensis in Viikki

19/2008

MODERN TECHNIQUES IN DETECTION, IDENTIFICATION AND QUANTIFICATION OF BACTERIA AND PEPTIDES FROM FOODS

Janetta Hakovirta

Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology Division of Microbiology Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry University of Helsinki Finland

Academic Dissertation in Microbiology

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the auditorium 2041 at the University of Helsinki, Biocenter 2, Viikinkaari 5, on May 30th 2008 at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2008

Supervisor:	Professor Per Saris Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology University of Helsinki Finland
Reviewers:	Professor Matti Karp Institute of Environmental Engineering and Biotechnology Tampere University of Technology Finland
	Docent Vesa Kontinen Department of Viral Diseases and Immunology National Public Health Institute Finland
Opponent:	Docent Petri Auvinen Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Finland
Custos:	Professor Per Saris Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology University of Helsinki Finland
Printed: Layout:	Yliopistopaino 2008, Helsinki, Finland Timo Päivärinta

ISSN:1795-7079ISBN:978-952-10-4722-0 (paperback)ISBN:978-952-10-4723-7 (PDF)

email: janetta.hakovirta@helsinki.fi

Front cover: Pictures from Los Alamos, New Mexico and Finnish lakeside joined by artistic view of DNA helix

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS	
THE AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION	
ABBREVIATIONS	
ABSTRACT	
TIIVISTELMÄ (ABSTRACT IN FINNISH)	
INTRODUCTION	1
1. RISKS IN FOODSTUFF	1
2. METHODS IN DETECTION AND IDENTIFICATION OF BACTERIA	2
2.1. Nucleic acid amplification methods	4
2.1.1. Polymerase chain reaction	4
2.1.2. Variations of PCR	4
2.1.3. Limitations of nucleic acid amplification methods	5
2.2. Restriction endonuclease analysis	5
2.2.1. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis	6
2.2.2. Amplified fragment length polymorphism	8
2.2.3. Restriction fragment length polymorphism	8
2.3. Immunological methods	9
2.4. Future methods in detection and identification of bacteria	10
2.4.1. Flow cytometry	10
2.4.1.1. Instrumentation of FCM	10
2.4.1.2. FCM in microbiology	11
2.4.2. DNA microarrays	12
2.4.3. Biosensors	13
AIMS OF THE STUDY	15
MATERIALS AND METHODS	16
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	20
1. BACTERIAL FINGERPRINTING WITH FLOW CYTOMETRY (I, II)	20
1.1. Technique of DNA fragment sizing with FCM	20
1.2. Accuracy, reproducibility and sensitivity of FCM	21
1.3. Rapid fingerprinting of bacteria by FCM	22
2. SINGLE-ENZYME AMPLIFIED FRAGMENT LENGTH	
POLYMORPHISM (III)	22
3. GFP _{IIV} -BASED NISIN BIOASSAY (IV)	24
4. MICROBIOTA OF CUSTOMER RETURNED WINES (V)	28
CONCLUSIONS	31
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	32
REFERENCES	33

LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following original papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Kim, Y., J. H. Jett, E. J. Larson, J. R. Penttila, B. L. Marrone, and R. A. Keller. 1999. Bacterial fingerprinting by flow cytometry: bacterial species discrimination. Cytometry 36:324-332.
- II Larson, E. J., J. R. Hakovirta, J. H. Jett, S. Burde, R. A. Keller, and B. L. Marrone. 2000. Rapid DNA fingerprinting of pathogens by flow cytometry. Cytometry 41:203-208.
- III Velappan, N., J. L. Snodgrass, J. R. Hakovirta, B. L. Marrone, and S. Burde. 2001. Rapid identification of pathogenic bacteria by single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism analysis. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 39:77-83.
- **IV** Hakovirta, J., J. Reunanen, and P. E. J. Saris. 2006. Bioassay for nisin in milk, processed cheese, salad dressings, canned tomatoes, and liquid egg products. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72:1001-1005.
- V Hakovirta, J. R., D. Hoornstra, M. S. Salkinoja-Salonen, and P. E. J. Saris. 2008. Microflora of customer returned wines – mitochondriotoxin producing *Bacillus simplex* in wine. Submitted to Applied and Environmental Microbiology.

The original papers were reproduced with the kind permission from the copyright holders: Elsevier Limited, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., and American Society for Microbiology.

THE AUTHOR'S CONTRIBUTION

Paper I:

Janetta Hakovirta contributed to the sample preparation of DNA for pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) and for flow cytometry. She performed the PFGE and analysis of the data. She contributed to the writing of PFGE portion of the article.

Paper II:

Janetta Hakovirta contributed to the sample preparation for flow cytometry and to the development of the eight-hour sample preparation. She carried out all the pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) experiments and the analysis of the data. Also, she contributed to the writing of the PFGE portion of the article.

Paper III:

Janetta Hakovirta contributed to the single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism experiments, analysis of the results and contributed to the writing of the article.

Paper IV:

Janetta Hakovirta performed all experimental work. She interpreted the results and was the writer of the article.

Paper V:

Janetta Hakovirta performed all experimental work, interpreted the results (excluding the riboprinter analysis), and was the writer of the article.

ABBREVIATIONS

AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphism
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
bp	Base pair(s)
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FCM	Flow cytometry
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GFP	Ultraviolet variant of green fluorescent protein
kb	Kilobase pair(s)
LANL	Los Alamos National Laboratory
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PFGE	Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid
SE-AFLP	Single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism
sp./spp.	Species
SV.	Serovar
VNC	Viable but nonculturable

ABSTRACT

Standards have been placed to regulate the microbial and preservative contents to assure that foods are safe to the consumer. In a case of a food-related disease outbreak, it is crucial to be able to detect and identify quickly and accurately the cause of the disease. In addition, for every day control of food microbial and preservative contents, the detection methods must be easily performed for numerous food samples.

In this present study, quicker alternative methods were studied for identification of bacteria by DNA fingerprinting. A flow cytometry method was developed as an alternative to pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, the "golden method". DNA fragment sizing by an ultrasensitive flow cytometer was able to discriminate species and strains in a reproducible and comparable manner to pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. This new method was hundreds times faster and 200,000 times more sensitive. Additionally, another DNA fingerprinting identification method was developed based on single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism (SE-AFLP). This method allowed the differentiation of genera, species, and strains of pathogenic bacteria of *Bacilli, Staphylococci, Yersinia,* and *Escherichia coli*. These fingerprinting patterns obtained by SE-AFLP were simpler and easier to analyze than those by the traditional amplified fragment length polymorphism by double enzyme digestion.

Nisin (E234) is added as a preservative to different types of foods, especially dairy products, around the world. Various detection methods exist for nisin, but they lack in sensitivity, speed or specificity. In this present study, a sensitive nisin-induced green fluorescent protein (GFP_{uv}) bioassay was developed using the *Lactococcus lactis* two-component signal system NisRK and the nisin-inducible *nisA* promoter. The bioassay was extremely sensitive with detection limit of 10 pg/ml in culture supernatant. In addition, it was compatible for quantification from various food matrices, such as milk, salad dressings, processed cheese, liquid eggs, and canned tomatoes.

Wine has good antimicrobial properties due to its alcohol concentration, low pH, and organic content and therefore often assumed to be microbially safe to consume. Another aim of this thesis was to study the microbiota of wines returned by customers complaining of food-poisoning symptoms. By partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis, ribotyping, and boar spermatozoa motility assay, it was identified that one of the wines contained a *Bacillus simplex* BAC91, which produced a heat-stable substance toxic to the mitochondria of sperm cells. The antibacterial activity of wine was tested on the vegetative cells and spores of *B. simplex* BAC91, *Bacillus cereus* type strain ATCC 14579 and cereulide-producing *Bacillus cereus* F4810/72. Although the vegetative cells and spores of *B. simplex* BAC91 were sensitive to the antimicrobial effects of wine, the spores of *B. cereus* strains ATCC 14579 and F4810/72 stayed viable for at least 4 months. According to these results, *Bacillus* spp., more specifically spores, can be a possible risk to the wine consumer.

TIIVISTELMÄ (ABSTRACT IN FINNISH)

Mikrobien ja säilöntäaineiden määrälle elintarvikkeissa on luotu ja asetettu raja-arvoja, jotta voidaan varmistaa kuluttajien turvallisuus. Erityisesti ruokamyrkytysepidemioissa on oleellista, että taudinaiheuttajat voidaan havaita ja tunnistaa mahdollisimman nopeasti ja tarkasti. Tämän lisäksi päivittäisessä mikrobien ja säilöntäaineiden seurannassa ja kontrolloinnissa käytettävien ilmaisutekniikoiden ja metodologioiden tulee olla helppokäyttöisiä.

Tässä väitöskirjassa tutkittiin vaihtoehtoisia nopeampia mittausmenetelmiä bakteerien tunnistamiseen DNA-sormenjälkien avulla. Työssä kehitettiin virtaussytometriin perustuva menetelmä vaihtoehdoksi pulssikenttägeelielektroforeesille ("the golden method"). DNA-palojen koon mittaaminen erittäin herkällä virtaussytometrillä mahdollisti lajien ja kantojen erottamisen toistettavalla ja vertailtavissa olevalla tavalla pulssikenttägeelielektroforeesiin nähden. Uusi menetelmä oli satoja kertoja nopeampi ja 200,000 kertaa herkempi kuin vertailumenetelmä. Tämän lisäksi kehitettiin myös toinen DNA-sormenjälkitunnistusmenetelmä. Menetelmässä bakteerin DNA:ta pilkotaan yhdellä entsyymillä ja syntyneitä DNA-paloja monistetaan erityisillä alukkeilla, jolloin syntyy kullekin bakteerille tunnusomainen sormenjälkikuvio. Tämä menetelmä mahdollisti patogeenibakteerien: *Bacilli, Staphylococci, Yersinia,* ja *Escherichia coli* sukujen, lajien ja kantojen erottamisen. Uudella menetelmällä sormenjälkikuviot olivat myös yksinkertaisempia ja helpompia analysoida kuin perinteisellä menetelmällä, jossa käytetään kahta entsyymiä.

Nisiiniä (E234) käytetään yleisesti säilöntäaineena erilaisissa elintarvikkeissa ja erityisesti maitotuotteissa ympäri maailmaa. Nisiinin määrittämiseen on olemassa erilaisia mittausmenetelmiä, mutta ne eivät ole yleensä tarpeeksi herkkiä, spesifisiä ja nopeita. Tässä tutkimuksessa kehitettiin testi, jossa näytteen sisältämä nisiini osoitetaan reportterigeenin avulla. Testissä käytettiin *Lactococcus lactis* –kanta, jolla on kromosomissa kaksikomponenttisignaalijärjestelmä NisRK ja plasmidissa *nisA*promoottori gfp_{uv} reportterigeenin edessä. Nisiini aktivoi *nisA*-promoottorin NisRKkomponentin välituksellä, mikä saa aikaan reportterigeenin ja vihreän fluoresoivan proteiinin (GFP_{uv}) ilmentymisen, joka voidaan mitata. Testi oli erittäin herkkä ja sillä pystyttiin havaitsemaan jopa 10 pg/ml nisiinipitoisuus kasvatusliemessä. Tämän lisäksi se oli sovellettavissa mittauksiin erilaisista elintarvikkeista, kuten maidosta, salaattikastikkeista, prosessoiduista juustoista, nestemäisistä kananmunista ja säilyketomaatista.

Alkoholipitoisuus, alhainen pH-taso ja orgaanisen aineen pitoisuus antavat viinille hyvät antimikrobiset ominaisuudet, minkä vuoksi viiniä pidetään yleisesti mikrobien suhteen turvallisena elintarvikkeena. Tämän väitöskirjan yhtenä tavoitteena oli tutkia asiakkaiden palauttamia viinejä, joiden oletettiin olleen syynä ruokamyrkytysoireisiin. Osittaisen 16S rRNA –geenisekvenssin analysoinnin, ribotyypityksen ja sian siittiöiden liikkuvuuskokeen avulla yhdestä viinistä löydettiin ja tunnistettiin *Bacillus simplex* BAC91 –bakteeri, joka tuotti siittiösolujen mitokondrioihin vaikuttavaa myrkkyä. Viinin antimikrobinen aktiviteetti mitattiin *B. simplex* BAC91, *Bacillus cereus* ATCC 14579 (tyyppikanta) ja kereulidi-myrkkyä tuottavan *Bacillus cereus* F4810/72 -bakteerien vegetatiivisilla soluilla ja itiöillä. Vaikka *B. simplex* BAC91 -bakteerin vegetatiiviset solut ja itiöt olivat herkkiä viinin antimikrobisille ominaisuuksille, *B. cereus* tyyppikanta ATCC 14579 ja *B. cereus* F4810/72 -bakteereiden itiöt pysyivät elossa ainakin neljän kuukauden ajan. Tulosten perusteella *Bacillus* spp. ja erityisesti niiden itiöt voivat olla mahdollinen riski viinin kuluttajille.

INTRODUCTION

The challenges in food safety have increased due to the development of new products and production methods, globalization of the markets, increase in consumer knowledge, and to the high demand for different types and healthier foods. Consumers have better understanding of the contents of foods and demand for more reliable and quicker processes to assure good quality. They demand for foodstuff that contains less unnatural components, such as food additives and preservatives, but they also want foods that are safe to eat in regards to pathogenic microorganisms. Therefore, the ability to detect, identify, and quantify unwanted microorganisms and other components in food is important to the food industry as well as to the consumer. Furthermore, these identification techniques are crucial in food-related disease outbreaks for epidemiologic investigations.

1. RISKS IN FOODSTUFF

To the consumer, the possible risks in foods are very broad (Edwards et al. 2007). It can be matter that is clearly foreign to the food, such as metal, glass, plastic and wood or it can be food materials that are foreign to specific food products, such as pork mixed in



Fig. 1. The etiology of the foodborne illness during 1993-2002 in the United States. (Olsen et al. 2000; Lynch et al. 2006). An outbreak was considered to be two or more cases of a similar illness resulting from the ingestion of a common food.

with other meats or nuts in plain chocolate. It can also be matter that originates from the raw materials, such as bone fragments in meat or fruit stalks in fruit products, but are still unpleasant to the consumer. Another risk to consumers, but perhaps not as visible, is microbes and chemical compounds. It is important to distinguish that these can have negative and positive effects on the food product. Food additives, such as preservatives and colors, are added to foods to improve the organoleptical quality and shelf-life of food products while other chemicals and microbes are required for the preparation of the product. However, if microorganisms contaminate or overgrow in foods, they can cause great havoc to the consumer. Food additives, as well, can be harmful if not added in the proper amounts. Therefore, it is important to constantly control and check the quality of foods.

Foodborne illnesses are a widespread problem throughout the world. These illnesses caused by foodborne microbial pathogens, include fungi, viruses, parasites and bacteria, significantly affect people's health as well as being economically costly. It has been estimated that in the United States approximately 76 million illnesses, 325,000 hospitalizations, and 5,000 deaths will occur annually (Mead et al. 1999), which can cost up to tens of billions of US dollars (Buzby et al. 1996). In developed countries worldwide, this represents that one third of the population are affected by foodborne illnesses each year and it is believed that in developing countries the amount is even higher (Schlundt 2002). Bacteria are the leading causers of illnesses from the other microbial pathogens and threats in food (Fig. 1). The outbreaks reported in the United States during a 10-year period indicate that bacteria were the most common cause of the outbreaks.

In 2006, forty-six food-related outbreaks were reported in Finland and the bacterial causes of these outbreaks were identified as *Bacillus cereus, Bacillus licheniformis, Campylobacter jejuni, Clostridium botulinum, Listeria monocytogenes, Salmonella enterica* serovar (sv.) Typhimurium FT NST, *Staphylococcus aureus,* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* (Evira 2007). Other food-related pathogens are found in the genera *Bacillus, Campylobacter, Clostridium, Escherichia, Shigella, Salmonella,* and *Vibrio* (Woteki and Kineman 2003). It has been approximated that 81% of illnesses and hospitalizations and 64% of deaths related to foodborne illnesses are caused by either unidentified or not detected organisms (Mead et al. 1999).

2. METHODS IN DETECTION AND IDENTIFICATION OF BACTERIA

The traditional way of detecting and identifying bacteria from food, or other samples, is based on culturing, enumeration, and isolation of presumptive colonies for further identification analysis. If necessary, the food sample must be homogenized, concentrated, and/or pre-enriched prior to culturing. Bacterial cells can become injured or viable but nonculturable (VNC) due to the sublethal stressors, such as heat, cold, acid, and osmotic shock, during the food processing steps (Kell et al. 1998). These bacterial cells still pose a threat in the food industry and therefore, methods to improve the detection levels of

these injured cells have been developed. However, even with these methods, all bacterial cells, especially those that are VNC are not detected. The pre-enrichment of the bacteria in a food sample can be performed by a non-selective or selective broth culture (Zhao and Doyle 2001) or by the selective agar overlay technique to resuscitate the injured cells (Hurst 1977; Ray 1986). Another manner in which the detection levels of viable cells can be increased is by concentration of the food sample by filtration or centrifugation prior to plating. More modern methods of concentration or even selecting specific bacteria from heterogenous or polluted samples are by immunomagnetic or by metal hydroxide based separation (Gracias and McKillip 2004).

The pre-treated food sample can then be plated on non-selective, selective and differential media (Gracias and McKillip 2004). Non-selective media or standard methods agar, such as the aerobic plate count, can be used to detect and count the amount of bacteria in the sample. Selective medium contains a compound, such as an antibiotic, bacteriocin, a growth nutrient, which selectively inhibits or ameliorates the growth of specific microorganisms. The third type is a differential medium which contains an indicator, such a chromogenic or fluorogenic substrate, which differentiates bacteria by various chemical reactions carried out during growth. By incorporating fluorogenic or chromogenic enzyme substrates into a selective media, identification of microorganisms can be done directly without further subculturing or biochemical tests. These culture media are based on bacteria producing specific and exact enzymes for substrates. As the enzyme then acts with the substrate, fluorogenic or chromogenic, the bacterial growth will fluoresce or change color, respectively. The developments on chromogenic and fluorogenic culture media for the enumeration and identification of *Escherichia coli*, Salmonella, Clostridium perfringens, Bacillus spp. and S. aureus have been reviewed by Manafi (2000).

Even though the culture methods are time consuming and laborious, the isolation and purification of microorganisms allows for further subtyping analysis and for storage in culture collections. The more conventional methods for further subtyping of bacteria include the study of the phenotypic characteristics of the microorganisms. These phenotypic methods include biotyping, serotyping, and phage typing (Arbeit 1995). In biotyping, the biochemical growth requirements, environmental conditions (pH, temperature, antibiotic resistance, bacteriocins susceptibility) and physiological (colony and cell morphology, cell wall composition by microscopy and membrane composition such as by fatty acid analysis) aspects of bacteria (Vandamme et al. 1996) are investigated while serological and phage typing (Towner and Cockayene 1993) concentrate more on the surface structure differences of bacteria. Phages are not only useful in subtyping bacteria, but also in detecting pathogens directly from foods (Hagens and Loessner 2007; Kretzer 2007). However, these phenotypic typing methods are limited since microorganisms are capable of suddenly altering their phenotypic characteristics due to environmental changes or genetic mutations. Therefore, identification by genotypic characteristics has been developed to avoid these problems that can occur with phenotypic methods.

2.1. Nucleic acid amplification methods

2.1.1. Polymerase chain reaction

Polymerase chain reaction (PCR; Saiki et al. 1985) is the amplification of a nucleic acid target sequence. The targeted sequences can be a specific gene, repetitive areas in the sequence or arbitrary sequences. However, when the PCR is based on the amplification of a specific portion of the DNA, the targeted DNA sequence, except for arbitrary PCR, must be known for the synthesis of the oligonucleotides. For foodborne bacterial pathogens, commonly targeted DNA areas are virulence factors, toxins, cellular metabolites, and multicopy ribosomal RNA (rRNA; Olsen et al. 1995; Scheu et al. 1998). The PCR-based techniques have also been developed for screening of genetically modified organisms and their derived materials in foods (Holst-Jensen et al. 2003). Post-PCR detection methods vary from gel electrophoresis, hybridization analysis, and usage of specific nucleic acid probes. In some cases, probes simplify the detection of the PCR product, in the similar way as gel electrophoresis, while in other cases it can further discriminate for only certain bacteria. By using fluorometric or colorimetric labeled probes on PCR products, further detection and specification of species and strains can be performed on membranes or microwells (Mandrell and Wachtel 1999; O'Connor et al. 2000; O'Sullivan et al., 2000; Grennan et al. 2001).

16S rRNA gene is a favorable PCR amplification target by universal or species-strain specific primers for identification and phylogenic purposes since it is universally distributed among bacteria and it contains enough variations amongst strains and species within the DNA sequence (Weisburg et al. 1991). The availability of whole genome to small subunit ribosomal RNA gene sequences, such as 16S rRNA, data is constantly increasing and public-domain databases have been established, such as Ribosomal Data Base Project (http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/) and National Center for Biotechnology Information Blast Library (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/blast/Blast.cgi). These database libraries can be applied for identification of cultured and uncultured microorganisms from environmental, clinical, and food samples by comparing the 16S rRNA gene sequences in the databases to those of the unknown microorganism (Drancourt et al. 2000). However, 16S rRNA gene sequence analyses have shown limited variability within strains of a bacteria species (Bottger 1989; Woese 1987; Olsen and Woese 1993). This is especially evident amongst homogenous groups, such as the cereulideproducing B. cereus. For example, Apetroaie et al. (2005) showed that the 16S rRNA gene sequences of thirteen cereulide-producing B. cereus strains were identical to each other as well as to the 16S rRNA gene sequences of *Bacillus anthracis* strains Ames, Sterne, and NC 08234-02. Therefore, 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis for homology is not always capable to completely identify an unknown organism.

2.1.2. Variations of PCR

Different variations of PCR have been developed in order to fulfill simultaneous detection of multiple bacteria, quantification, and differentiation of viable bacterial cells from foods. Simultaneous bacterial detection can be performed by multiplex PCR, which uses several different primers targeted for specific genes of each bacterial strain (Yaron and Matthews 2002; Touron et al. 2005). Many multiplex PCR systems have

been developed for differentiation of multiple species belonging to single genera and for differentiation of mixed bacterial pathogens (Settanni and Corsetti 2007). Conventional PCR is not able to indicate if the bacterial cells are viable or dead and therefore reverse transcriptase PCR was developed for the specifically detecting viable cells. This method is based on the reverse transcriptase enzyme that is able to use messenger RNA as a template for synthesizing single-stranded DNA in the 5' to 3' direction (Lazcka et al. 2007; Rodríguez-Lázarro et al. 2007). The technique is sensitive and requires no preenrichment steps, which decreases the time of analysis (Deishing and Thompson 2004). Another advantage of the reverse transcriptase PCR is the detection of VNC cells that are not detected with culturing. For the quantitative detection of bacteria in a sample, quantitative PCR can be used (Monis and Giglio 2006). This technology is based on the monitoring of formation of PCR product simultaneously as the reaction occurs by using fluorescent probes or dyes that are sequence specific or nonspecific. Molecular beacons are an example of a sequence specific fluorescent probe which undergoes a fluorogenic conformational change when hybridizing to their target (Tyagi and Kramer 1996). SYBER Green I and SYBER gold are nonspecific dyes that bind to the doublestranded DNA of the PCR product (Glynn et al. 2006). Only fluorescent probes labeled with different reporter dyes can be used to detect multiple amplicons within the same reaction mixture while double-stranded DNA dyes are limited to a single product per reaction (Robertson and Nicholson 2005).

2.1.3. Limitations of nucleic acid amplification methods

The acceptance and application of nucleic acid amplification methods in routine detection of foodborne pathogens has been limited due to the standardization and validation of PCR protocols. The protocols need to be synchronized between laboratories, so that the PCR results are reliable and reproducible when performed in different locations or times (Malorny et al. 2003). However, this is problematic because many of the aspects that can affect PCR are difficult to control. These are the quality of the DNA template, the environment (humidity, chemical and microbiological cleanliness, temperature), the equipments, personal practice and the reaction conditions and the reaction materials (Malorny et al. 2003). In addition, food itself is a difficult matrix since it can contain substances that affect the PCR reaction. Food can contain substances that can degrade the target nucleic acid sequence or inhibits the enzyme activity in the PCR, which can give false negative results (Glynn et al. 2006). Also PCR does not confirm the presence of toxins in the food, but only the genetic potential of a microorganism to produce them (de Boer and Beumer 1999). Although the technique of PCR is simple and quick, the technique still needs improvement for bacterial investigations of different foods and for standardized protocols in public health laboratories.

2.2. Restriction endonuclease analysis

By using restriction enzymes, the nucleic acid sequence differences in the whole genome DNA or plasmid can be studied without knowing the actual DNA sequence of the microorganism (Towner and Cockayne 1993). Many different types of restriction enzymes are available and they cleave DNA only at specific recognition sites resulting in a unique restriction pattern of DNA fragments, called a fingerprint. Bacteria can be typed and identified by comparing the DNA fingerprinting patterns.

Plasmids are separate genetic elements that can replicate independently from the main chromosome. They usually encode useful additional properties of the cells, as antibiotic or bacteriocin resistance, metabolic activity, but they do not code the necessary genes for survival, the housekeeping genes of the cell. Plasmids are found in a vast majority of the bacterial genera. However, plasmids are not stable or the strain might lack the plasmid and therefore using plasmids for DNA fingerprinting pattern typing is not reliable (Towner and Cockayne 1993; Arbeit 1995; van Belkum et al. 2007). However, using the complete chromosome for DNA fingerprinting analysis will result in hundreds of fragments resulting in a complex fingerprint pattern that is difficult to analyze. The number and sizes of the restriction fragments generated by digestion are influenced by both the recognition sequence of the enzyme and the nucleic acid composition of the DNA. By using low frequently cutting enzymes or by combining the enzyme digestion technique with other typing methods, the fragment amounts can be decreased and the analysis simplified.

2.2.1. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis

Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) is based on the digestion of chromosomal DNA by rare cutting enzymes. By using such enzymes, the total amount of DNA fragments is minimized. However, the resulting DNA fragments are large and therefore cannot be separated by conventional gel electrophoresis where gel matrix sieves the different sized DNA molecules under unidirectional electric field. Schwartz and Cantor (1984) were the first to describe a new type of gel electrophoresis method that they used to produce a molecular karyotype from the chromosomal DNA of yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. This new method was capable of separating large DNA molecules up to 2000 kb by applying alternately pulsed electric fields that were perpendicular to each other and of which one was inhomogeneous. Different variations in the instrumentation have been developed since 1984 to improve the resolution and diminish distortion of the DNA fragments (Towner and Cockayne 1993). However, the basic principle of PFGE is using successive alternating electric fields which allow the DNA molecules to change continuously their direction of migration. The separation is not due to sieving, as in conventional agarose gel electrophoresis, but on the size of the DNA molecule. Larger DNA molecules change directions more slowly than smaller molecules. The large DNA molecule coils open and elongate parallel to an electric field in which manner it can enter a pore opening in the agarose. When the electric field stops and a new electric field is applied perpendicular to the opened DNA, the DNA molecule has to re-orient itself to enter a new opening. If the field direction is switched too slowly, the DNA molecule cannot reorient itself resulting in a situation as in conventional electrophoresis. The pulse time (ramping) and electron force (gradient) is constantly increased to achieve better separation of all different sizes of DNA fragments (Towner and Cockayene 1993). By having size standards, the sizes of the DNA fragments can be analyzed and the fingerprint patterns can be compared to other bacterial fingerprints. PFGE is capable of separating DNA molecules from 50 kb - 12 Mb (Towner and Cockayen 1993).

Since large DNA molecules break easily even from small amounts of shear, their isolation is difficult by the common isolation methods performed in solution. Schwartz

and Canton (1984) also described an alternative isolation method which was based on embedding cells into agarose to minimize the shearing of DNA during the isolation steps. Different variations of this procedure (Gautom 1997; Chang and Chui 1998; Kim et al. 1999; Larson et al. 2000) have been described as well, but the overall concept is the same (Fig. 2).

PFGE has proven to be highly discriminatory and superior to many of the other typing methods (Arbeit 1995). It is capable of differentiation between species and strains and therefore it has been investigated for the use in epidemiological studies, such as with *Campylobacter coli* (Yan et al. 1991), *C. jejuni* (Yan et al. 1991), *L. monocytogenes* (Brosch et al. 1991), and *S. aureus* (Schlichting et al. 1993). Zhong et al. (2007) developed a PFGE method for discriminating *B. anthracis* from the closely related species of *B. cereus* and *Bacillus thuringiensis* by slighty modifying the DNA isolation method to improve lysis and enzyme digestion with *Not*I of these spore-forming species. Although the 25 different strains of *B. anthracis* DNA fragment patterns were different from the strains of *B. cereus* and *B. thuringiensis*, the fingerprint patterns of the *B. anthracis* strains were 94% similar to each other. However, the method was not



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the agarose plug procedure for DNA isolation and restriction enzyme digestion (Kim et al. 1999). Bacterial cells are harvested and embedded into low temperature agarose to form plugs. The cell walls are lysed and proteins and RNA degraded enzymatically to access the DNA in the cells. The proteinase is inactivated by phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride and the degraded protein and RNA removed by multiple buffer washes. The plugs containing clean DNA are then digested with a restriction enzyme.

able to segregate *B. cereus* and *B. thuringiensis* from each other, which has also been reported earlier with PFGE (Carlson et al. 1994). Other methods, such as amplified fragment length polymorphism (Hill et al. 2004) and multilocus enzyme electrophoresis of housekeeping genes and their sequence analysis (Helgason et al. 2000), have not been able to distinguish between these species. In addition, it can differentiate between methicillin-resistant S. aureus strains (Prevost et al. 1992), vancomycin- and ampicillinresistant Enteroccous faecium (Price et al. 2002; Jureen et al. 2004) while ribotyping was not as effective in differentiating these strains. In 1996, PFGE became the standard procedure for bacterial foodborne disease outbreak analysis (Swaminathan et al. 2001) due to its discriminatory capabilities (Gerner-Smidt et al. 2006). Uniform guidelines for performing PFGE and interpretation of the data have been set up to confirm the reproducibility amongst laboratories (Tenover et al. 1995). Therefore, it is considered the "golden standard" for molecular-based studies. It has become the preferred subtyping method for networks that have been created within the United States (PulseNet) and Europe (PulseNet Europe) for surveillance and for collection of PFGE fingerprints of bacterium related to foodborne infections (Swaminathan et al. 2001; Rodríguez-Lázaro et al. 2007). Currently, PulseNet USA has standardized PFGE protocols for Shiga toxigenic E. coli O157, S. enterica, Shigella spp., L. monocytogenes, thermotolerant Campylobacter spp., and V. cholerae and S. enterica sv. Braenderup strain H9812 digested with XbaI as the universal standard (Gerner-Smidt et al. 2006).

2.2.2. Amplified fragment length polymorphism

Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) is a genome fingerprinting technique based on the PCR amplification of only certain fragments that have been the result of restriction digestion of the whole genome (Vos et al. 1995; Lin et al., 1996; Olive and Bean 1999). The basic procedure includes the enzyme digestion by two restriction enzymes that yield DNA fragments with two different types of sticky ends. To these ends, adapters are ligated to form templates for the PCR. The selective amplification reaction is performed by using two different primers containing the same sequence as the adapters, but extended to include one or more selective bases next to the restriction site of the primer. Only fragments that are completely a match are amplified. This technique results in about 30 to 40 DNA fragments, some of which are species specific while others are strain specific (Janssen et al. 1996; Jackson et al. 1999; Koeleman et al. 1998; Jureen et al. 2004; Melles et al. 2007).

2.2.3. Restriction fragment length polymorphism

Restriction fragment length polymorphism combines restriction enzyme digestion and Southern blot hybridization (Olive and Bean 1999). The chromosomal DNA is enzymatically digested resulting in DNA fragments that are separated by gel electrophoresis. These fragments are the transferred to either a nitrocellulose or nylon membrane. The membrane bound fragments are then hybridized with one or multiple probes that are specific for a certain gene or sequence. The probes can be labeled with detectable moieties, such as radioactive isotopes, enzyme-colorimetric or enzymechemiluminescent substrates (Arbeit 1995; Olive and Bean 1999). Due to the species and strain differences in the location of the restriction enzyme sites and with the specificity of the probe, the resulting fingerprint is simplified and therefore, easier to analyze. The rRNA probe is more applicable for a wide variety of bacteria than other probes that are more species or strain specific (Towner and Cockavne 1993). The use of this probe for characterization is called ribotyping where restriction enzyme digestion and Southern blot hybridization are used together for analysis. Since the ribosomal operons in bacteria are organized into 16S, 23S and 5S rRNA and are often separated by non-coding spacer DNA (Towner and Cockayne 1993), the probe can be either one of the rRNA genes or a mixture or parts of the rRNA genes and the spacer sequences. However, hybridization patterns differ depending on the probe used (Saunders et al. 1990). Labeled probes containing E. coli 23S, 16S and 5S rRNA sequences are most often used for ribotyping (Bingen et al. 1994). Ribotyping has been shown to be advantageous in identifying strains, such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from the mucous of a cystic fibrosis patient and Legionella spp., which are difficult to type with the classical phenotypic methods (Bingen et al. 1994). From studies with L. monocytogenes, P. aeruginosa, and Salmonella, ribotyping showed to be a practical and rapid method for screening of large number of isolates, but alone it is not necessarily the best method for discriminating between strains and other typing methods, such as PFGE or serotyping, are required (Grundmann et al. 1995; Bailey et al. 2002; Aarnisalo et al. 2003; Lukinmaa et al 2004).

2.3. Immunological methods

Serological typing is one of the oldest immunological-based techniques, but still an important tool in identifying bacteria that is based on the difference, even within a species, of antigenic determinants expressed on the cell surface (Towner and Cockayne 1993; van Belkum et al. 2007). These surface structures include lipopolysaccharides, capsular polysaccharides, membrane proteins and extracellular organelles, such as flagella and fimbriae that react with antibodies (Arbeit 1995). Serotyping is still important for gram-negative bacteria, such as Campylobacter, E. coli and Salmonella, and also some gram-positive bacteria, such as those in the genus Listeria. (Nachamkin 2001; Jay et al. 2005). The simplest antibody tests are latex agglutination for bacterial cells and reverse passive agglutination for antigens that are soluble, such as toxins (Feng 2001). The main difference is that in latex agglutination bacterial surface antigens bind to beads with antibodies and this causes glumping while for insoluble materials it forms a diffuce lattice. Immunofluorescence is another traditional subtyping technique that is also based on surface-associated antigens that are detected by antibodies directly labeled with fluorescein or a fluorescein-labelled conjugate which is added for visualization of the antigen-antibody binding (Towner and Cockayene 1993). Immunoassays not only exist for surface antigens, but also for detection of metabolites, such as toxins, and assays have been described for botulinum, cholera, Staphylococcal enterotoxin, C. perfringens enterotoxins, and B. cereus enterotoxins (Notermans and Wernars 1991).

More modern versions of immunological methods have been developed, so that larger quantities of samples can be analyzed with less time and effort and using food directly rather than an isolated and purified bacterial isolate, such as with latex agglutination (Gracias and McKillip 2004). At the present, the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is the most established immunological technique, from which the indirect or

sandwich-ELISA (Fig. 3) is the more commonly used for pathogen detection (Lazcka et al. 2007).



Fig. 3. Schematic presentation of the steps in the indirect enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay: 1) antigen-specific antibody immobilized to a surface; 2) addition of antigen; 3) addition of enzyme labeled antibody; 4) color detection by eye or spectrophotometer due to addition of substrate to enzyme.

ELISA techniques have been developed for the detection of whole cell antigen targets or products for such pathogens as *B. cereus* (Chen et al. 2001), *Campylobacter* spp. (Bolton et al. 2002), *E. coli* (Daly et al. 2002), and *Salmonella* spp. (Peplow et al. 1999) from foods.

2.4. Future methods in detection and identification of bacteria

Constantly more rapid and easier techniques are being developed for simultaneous detection and identification of bacteria from food. These techniques are based on the similar concepts as the previously mentioned phenotypic and genotypic methods, but they include new instrumentation or set-ups for the analysis of the samples. Although flow cytometry, DNA microarrays and biosensors will be discussed in this thesis, other bacterial detection systems have been developed based on instruments that are traditionally used in the field of chemistry, such as reflectance spectroscopy (Rahman et al. 2006), Fourier transform Raman spectroscopy (Yang and Irudayaraj 2003) and mass spectrometry (Mandrell and Wachtel 1999).

2.4.1. Flow cytometry

Although flow cytometry (FCM) was discovered in the late 1960's, its applicability in the field of microbiology has not yet been fully reached. It has been extensively applied to mammalian cells and chromosomes, such as cell cycle analysis and medical diagnostic studies (Steen 2000; Longbardi Givan 2001). However, its potential in microbiology is continuously investigated and therefore it can still be considered a developing technique in field of detection and identification of bacteria.

2.4.1.1. Instrumentation of FCM

Steen (2000) described FCM simply as a fluorescent microscope with cells flowing through the focus. The instrument composes of four main elements: a light source,

fluid lines and controls (fluidics), electronic network, and a computer (Longobardi Givan 2001). Optical lenses shape the laser beam (light source) into a focused light that illuminates the samples one at a time, such as cells. As the cells pass through the illumination spot in the FCM, sheath fluid surrounds them to assure the uniformity of the alignment between the cells and the laser beam. At the analysis point, lenses collect the light signal from the cells by focusing it onto photodetectors (photodiodes and photomultipliers) that convert the light signal to an electrical signal. The electrical signal is then converted from analog-to-digital and analyzed accordingly using standard analysis computer software.

In a FCM (Fig. 4), there are multiple photodetectors that measure simultaneously different aspects from a single cell (Longobardi Givan 2001). The forward-angle photodiode is located directly at the analysis point. An obscuration bar is in front of this detector to only allow the detection of the light that has been bent by passing through the cell. This signal is called forward scatter or forward-angle light scatter which is related to the size or volume and the refractive index of the cell (Davey and Kell 1996). To the right angles of the illuminating beam, three or more photodetectors are located that detect any light that is deflected to the side from the analysis point. Since photodetectors measure all colors of light, filters must be in front of them to specify the light which each one measures. One of the photodetectors registers the illuminating light that has been bounced 90° from the surface of the analyzed cell. This signal is called side scatter light which reflects the granularity of a particle (Davey and Kell 1996). The other photomultipliers are there to detect other colors of light that might be emitted by the cell due to endogenous fluorescent compounds or to staining by fluorescent dyes which allow the study of surface proteins, intracellular proteins and DNA (Nebe-von-Caron et al. 2000; Brehm-Stecher and Johnson 2004).

2.4.1.2. FCM in microbiology

The size of bacteria is one of the obstacles that has slowed down the utilization of FCM in bacteriological investigations. The diameter of a bacterial cell is around one-tenth of that of a mammalian blood cell resulting in a smaller surface area for staining, and the



Fig. 4. Principal of flow cytometry. A fluorescently stained sample is illuminated by a laser light. The forward scatter detector is in line with the laser beam (grey, solid arrows). The side scatter detector measures light that is of the same color as the laser beam, but scattered at a 90° angle (grey, dashed arrows). The other detectors detect colors different of the laser beam that might be emitted by the sample (black, dotted arrows).

DNA content of a bacterial cell, such as *E. coli*, is about 10⁻³ times that of diploid human cell (Longbardi Givan 2001). Therefore, the bacterial cells require sensitive instruments and bright fluorescent dyes (Steen 2000). The first microbiologists studied the nucleic acid and protein amounts in bacterial cells during different growth stages by FCM (Bailey et al. 1977; Paau et al. 1977; Steen 2000). With improvements in the sensitivity of FCM and in dyes, FCM studies in bacteriology have become more common. FCM has developed into an intriguing tool for microbiology research due to its capability to simultaneously measure multiple aspects of a homogenous or heterogenous sample, such as cell detection, cell counting, and cellular structure analysis (Brehm-Stecher and Johnson 2004).

Microbial identification by FCM is based on the bacterial properties that are also used in phenotypic and genotypic methods described earlier in the thesis. The size and granularity of the cells is indicated by the light scatter which can be used in differentiating cells, such as yeast from bacterial cells (Malacrinò et al. 2001). The autofluorescent properties of cells, such as the presence of photosynthetic pigments, have been used in identifying and classifying algae (Troussellier et al. 1993). FCM has been utilized in serological discrimination of bacteria, fungi, viruses and parasites (Álvarez-Barrientos et al. 2000). In molecular biology, FCM can be used for DNA fragment analysis of bacteria (Huang et al. 1999) and viruses (Ferris et al. 2005), and detection of clones and mutants by reporters encoded by genes, such as *lux* and *gfp* (Huang et al. 1996; Link et al. 2007). In food microbiology (Ueckert et al. 1995), FCM is advantageous since it can be used in differentiating between dead, viable, and VNC cells by using fluorescent dyes (Breeuwer and Abee 2000) that indicate the membrane integrity, membrane potential, respiration, intracellular pH, and enzyme activity of cells, directly from food, such as milk, juice, wine, vegetable products, and ground beef (Laplace-Builhé et al. 1993; Gunasekera et al. 2000; Malacrinò et al. 2001; Yamaguchi et al. 2003).

2.4.2. DNA microarrays

DNA microarrays consist of a solid surface (glass, silicon, nylon substrates) to which a large number of probes, DNA fragments or oligonucleotides, are immobilized that will hybridize to fluorescently labeled DNA (target) from the sample (Call 2005). The target can be genomic DNA isolated from the sample or an amplified PCR product. Genomic microarrays and oligonucleotide arrays are the two types of DNA microarrays. In genomic DNA microarrays, the probes are complete genes or their fragments from a strain of a microorganism, while in oligonucleotide microarrays the target DNA hybridizes to 18 to 70 nucleotides long oligos. Although both types of microarrays can be used in detection of pathogens, commonly oligonucleotide microarrays are used in detection of either genomic DNA directly or PCR amplified portion of the genomic DNA, such as rRNA genes or virulence genes (Kostrzynska and Bachand 2006). Microarrays have been developed for identification of food-borne bacterial pathogens belonging to Bacillus spp., C. jejuni, E. coli, L. monocytogenes, S. enterica, Shigella dysenteriae, Staphylococcus spp., and Vibrio spp. (Call et al. 2003; Chiang et al. 2006; Garaizar et al. 2006; Sergeev et al. 2006; Eom et al. 2007) and for discrimination from multiple different pathogens and their virulence factors (Sergeev et al 2006; Wang et al.

2007b) in case of food outbreaks and biological warfare (Sergeev et al 2004; Wang et al. 2007b).

Due to the fact that multiple genetic properties can be analyzed at the same time and their flexibility in developing arrays that are specific for certain analyses, DNA microarrays make excellent tool in epidemiological studies and food safety control. However, improvements in microarrays are still required for them to become more economical and practical for public health laboratories and food industries (Garaizar et al. 2006; Kostrzynska and Bachand 2006).

2.4.3. Biosensors

According Lazcka et al. (2007), biosensor technology is the fastest growing technology for pathogen detection when compared to PCR, immunology, culture methods and gel electrophoresis. A biosensor consists of a biological material, biologically derived material, or a biomimic that is associated or integrated to a transducer. This transducer can be physiochemical or biological that converts the detected change or presence of a various analyte in the analyzed sample into a measurable signal (Lazcka et al. 2007). These devices can be used to detect analytes, such as carcinogens, pollutants, drugs, pesticides, and pathogens from water, waste, soil and foods (Arora et al. 2006). Various detection methods based on biosensors have been applied in detection of food pathogens. These sensors have been based on DNA, immunology, and phage display peptides (Table 1).

Transducers are based on optical, acoustical, and electrochemical signal detection (Lazcka et al 2007). Optical biosensors measure changes in fluorescence, luminescence, absorbance, or refractive index. Fluorescence techniques are based on direct measurement of fluorescent indicator compounds, or in the case of fluorescence resonance energy transfer biosensors (Baeumner 2003), a donor fluorophore donates energy to an acceptor fluorophore, which then emits light (Ko and Grant 2003). Surface plasmon resonance is based on detecting changes in refractive index caused by structural alterations of a thin film metal surface, such as gold. (Cooper 2003). Acoustic sensors measure changes in resonance frequency, due to a mass change of a bio-molecular surface, such as piezoelectric crystals, e.g. quartz (O'Sullivan and Guilbault 1999). Another sensor type is electrochemical biosensors designed to measure changes as current and potential at the sensor/sample matrix interface (Laczka et al. 2003). These sensors are classified in respect to what they measure: amperometric (current), potentiometric (potential), and impedimetric (impedance).

Whole cells and higher organisms (plants, algae, nematodes, animal tissues) have been used as detectors in biosensors (Baeumner 2003). In this thesis, emphasis is placed on bacterial biosensors. Viable microbes produce metabolites, such as carbon dioxide, ammonia, acids, or they are bioluminescent as exemplified by *Vibrio fischeri*, which can be used to monitor viability (D'Souza 2001). Many microbial biosensors are based on light emission from luminescent or fluorescent bacteria that are genetically engineered to express fluorescent or luminescent proteins, such as green fluorescent protein (GFP)

or luciferase protein (D'Souza 2001; Baeumner 2003). So far, microbial biosensors and bioassays have been applied more prevalently in the detection of food additives and food contaminants than in direct monitoring of food pathogens themselves.

 Table 1. Various biosensor methods for detection of food pathogens and other food-related compounds.

Detection technique	Organisms /Co	ompounds detected
	Pathogens	Bacillus anthracis, Escherichia coli, Listeria
DNA based biosensors		monocytogenes
	Compounds	Aflatoxins, PCB, pesticides
	Pathogens	E. coli O157:H7, Salmonella enterica sv.
		Typhimurium
Enzyma based biosensors	Compounds	Pesticides, antibiotics (milk), benzoic acids (soda
Enzyme based biosensors		drinks),
		L-lactase ¹ (tomato paste), biogenic amines ¹
		(sauerkraut)
	Pathogens	Bacillus cereus, Campylobacter spp., E. coli, L.
		monocytogenes,
Antibodies and recentors		S. enterica sv. Enteritidis, S. enterica sv.
has his his his his his his his his his hi		Typhimurium, Staphylococcus aureus, Yersinia
based biosensors		pestis
	Compounds	Pesticides, antibiotics (milk), organic solvents,
		alfatoxins, staphylococcal enterotoxin B

The methods were compiled from Arora et al. 2006 and Bauemner 2003.

¹ compounds for indicating freshness of food

² combines immunological and phage display peptide biosensors

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Food safety is important to regulators and consumers. Food poisoning cases are still common, even if the knowledge about food preservation and good hygiene has improved throughout the world. In a case of a food and water epidemics or in biological warfare, the organism(s) must be detected and identified rapidly to stop the spreading of the illness. Additionally, food preservatives and food additives are strictly regulated and controlled, so rapid methods are also required for their detection and quantification. The aims of this thesis were the following:

- 1. Develop a faster method to detect and identify bacteria at species and strain level by flow cytometry.
- 2. Develop a SE-AFLP method for genus, species, and strain differentiation among bacteria of *Bacillus* spp., *E. coli, Staphylococcus* spp. and *Yersinia* spp.
- 3. Develop an extremely sensitive bioassay to detect and quantify nisin, an antimicrobial food preservative, from different food matrices.
- 4. Apply 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis to study the microflora, including potential pathogens, of customer returned wines.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The bacterial strains used in this study are shown in Table 2 and Table 3, plasmids in Table 4, restriction enzymes in Table 5, and primers in Table 6. The methods used in this study are indicated in Table 7, but are described in more detail in the Materials and Methods sections of the Papers I-V.

Bacterial strain	Source	Used in
Bacillus cereus 4342	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
B. cereus 7064	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
<i>B. cereus</i> 11778	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
<i>B. cereus</i> 14579	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III, V
B. cereus 33018	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
<i>B. cereus</i> F4810/72	HAMBI, University of Helsinki, Finland	V
Bacillus globigii	Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, USA	Ι
Bacillus mycoides 6463	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
B. mycoides 19647	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
B. mycoides 23258	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
Bacillus simplex BAC91	This study	V
Escherichia coli 11775	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
E. coli 15597	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	Ι
E. coli 25254	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
E. coli 25922	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	I, II
E. coli 27622	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
<i>E. coli</i> 33694	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
<i>E. coli</i> 35326	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
<i>E. coli</i> 43888	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
E. coli 43893	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
E. coli 43895	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	III
<i>E. coli</i> MG 1655	University of Wisconsin-Madison,	II, III
	WI, USA/ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	
Erwinia herbicola	Aberdeen Proving Ground, MD, USA	Ι
Staphylococcus aureus 10832	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
S. aureus 12600	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
S. aureus 13301	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
S. aureus 25923	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
<i>S. aureus</i> 29213	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
S. aureus 29996	ATCC, Rockford, MD, USA	II, III
Lactococcus lactis NZ9000	NIZO/Kuipers et al. 1998	IV
L. lactis LAC275	This study	IV

Table 2. Bacterial strains used in this study.

ATCC = American Type Culture Collection

Bacterial strain	Source	Used in
Bacillus anthracis Vollum	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. anthracis BA1018	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. anthracis CDC-572	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. anthracis SG-PA3	LANL, NM, USA	III
<i>B. anthracis</i> Ames	LANL, NM, USA	III
Bacillus thuringiensis 127	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. thuringiensis 314	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. thuringiensis 487	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. thuringiensis 780	LANL, NM, USA	III
B. thuringiensis 10792	LANL, NM, USA	III
Yersinia enterocolitica	LANL, NM, USA	III
Yersinia pestis Angola	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Antigua	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis CO92	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Ev76-lot4	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Ev76-51	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Harbin 35	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Indian Isolate	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Java 9	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Kim-10-Variant	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis KIM10	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis La Paz	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Nicholisk 41	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest A	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest Aa	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest B	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest Ba	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest C	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest D	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest F	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest G	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Pest J	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Russian Plague Vaccine	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis Stavropol	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis III	LANL, NM, USA	III
Y. pestis 195P	LANL, NM, USA	III
Yersinia pseudotuberculosis	LANL, NM, USA	III

Table 3. Only DNA from these bacterial strains were used.

LANL = Los Alamos National Laboratory

Plasmid	Relevant properties	Reference/source	Used in
pGFPuv	Amp ^r , <i>gfp</i> _w , <i>NcoI</i> , <i>Eco</i> RI,	Clonetech Laboratories Inc./	IV
	AvaII	Anonymous 2000	
pCR®4-TOPO	Kam ^r , <i>Eco</i> RI, <i>Not</i> I	Invitrogen Life Tecnologies	IV
pNZ8048	Cam ^r , P _{nisA} , NcoI, EcoRI,	NIZO/Kuipers et al. 1998	IV
	terminator		
pLEB651	$\operatorname{Cam}^{\mathrm{r}}, \operatorname{P}_{\operatorname{nisA}} gfp_{uv}, Eco\mathrm{RI}$	This study	IV

Table 4. Plasmids used in this study.

Amp = ampicillin, Kam = kanamycin, Cam = chloramphenicol, r = resistance

Enzyme	Base sequence	Used in
AvaII ^a	5'- G*G(A/T)CC -3'	IV
	3'- CC(T/A)G*G -5'	
<i>Bsp</i> HI	5'- T*CATGA -3'	IV
	3'- AGTAC*T -5'	
<i>Eco</i> RI	5'- G*AATTC -3'	IV, V
	3'- CTTAA*G -5'	
HindIII	5'- A*AGCTT -3'	III
	3'- TTCGA*A -5'	
NcoI	5'- C*CATGG -3'	IV
	3'- GGTAC*C- 5'	
NotI	5'- GC*GGCCGC -3'	I, II
	3'- CGCCGG*CG -5'	
SfiI ^b	5'- GGCCNNNN*NGGCC- 3'	Ι
	3'- CCGGN*NNNNCCGG- 5'	
XbaI	5'- T*CTAGA- 3'	Ι
	3'- AGATC*T- 5'	
SmaI	5'- CCC*GGG -3'	II
	3'-GGG*CCC- 5'	

Table 5. Restriction endonucleases used in this study.

^aparentheses indicates that can be either base

^bN indicates any base

Primer name and restriction site	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Used in
HindIII + 0	GTAGACTGCTGACCAGCTT	III
HindIII + XX	GTAGACTGCTGACCAGCTTXX ^a	III
G0575	AGCTGCATGTGTCAGAGGTTTTCA	IV
G0576, <i>Bsp</i> HI	AGAAATCATGAGTAAAGGAGAAGAAC	IV
pA (forward primer)	AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG	V
pE' (reverse primer)	CCGTCAATTCCTTTGAGTTT′	V

Table 6. Sequences of PCR primers used in this study.

^aXX represents one or two additional specific nucleotides: A, C, G, T, AC, AG, AA, AT, CA, CT, GA, GT, TA, TC, TG, and TT

Table 7. Methods used in this study.

Method	Used in
Basic DNA techniques: DNA isolation, plasmid isolation,	I-V
restriction enzyme digestion, electrophoresis, PCR	
DNA isolation by agarose plug method	I, II
Staining: DNA, spermatozoa	I, II, V
DNA electroelution	I, II
DNA fingerprint fragment analysis	I, II, III
Transformation: E. coli and L. lactis	IV
Nisin quantification by nisin-induced GFP _w fluorescence	IV
Partial 16S rRNA gene sequencing	V
Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis	I, II
Riboprinting analysis	V
SE-AFLP	III
Boar spermatozoa toxicity assay	V
Ultrasensitive flow cytometry	I, II

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

1. BACTERIAL FINGERPRINTING WITH FLOW CYTOMETRY (I, II)

PFGE has been accepted as the primary molecular typing method in the United States, PulseNet, and Europe, PulseNet Europe, for recognition and investigation of foodborne outbreaks (Gerner-Smidt et al. 2006; Rodríguez-Lázaro et al. 2007). However, PFGE requires relatively large quantities of DNA, the sample preparation is time consuming and the analysis can be difficult. Therefore, a method that requires less DNA and is quicker is an advantage for bacterial discrimination and identification.

1.1. Technique of DNA fragment sizing with FCM

In this study, a bacterial identification method was developed based on the analysis of the DNA fragments by an ultrasensitive flow cytometer. The DNA fragments were obtained by digestion of chromosomal DNA in an agarose plug with a restriction enzyme as with PFGE. However, rather than characterizing the DNA fragment sizes by gel electrophoresis, the DNA fragments were electroeluted from the plug and stained with a DNA intercalating fluorescent dye. The stained fragments were then analyzed by an ultrasensitive flow cytometer that is capable of single molecule detection (Goodwin et al. 1993; Petty et al. 1995; Huang et al. 1996; Huang et al. 1999). Each fragment produced a fluorescence burst, directly proportional to the length, due to the excitation by a laser. These bursts were detected, recorded, and a histogram was produced from these burst sizes, which was equivalent to the DNA fingerprint received by PFGE. High efficiency optics and light detection, bright fluorochromes, and slow sheath velocity were used to develop the ultrasensitive flow cytometry system (Goodwin et al. 1993; Petty et al. 1995; Huang et al. 1996; Huang et al. 1999). By having a slow sheath velocity of 1-4 cm/s compared to the usual velocity of 1000 cm/s, allowed the DNA fragments to spend longer time in the laser beam, and therefore for better detection of the emitted fluorescence of the sample. The instrument contained a continuous wave Ar⁺/Kr⁺ laser to excite the dyed DNA fragments. DNA fragment analysis by flow cytometric measurements has also been reported by others (Castro et al. 1993; Goodwin et al. 1993; Castro and Shera 1995; Petty et al. 1995; Huang et al. 1996; Schins et al. 1998; Agronskaia et al. 1999; Chou et al. 1999; Huang et al. 1999;), but in this study (Paper I and II) multiple bacterial species, Bacillus globigii, E. coli, Erwinia herbicola and S. aureus, and also five different strains of E. coli and six different strains of S. aureus, were investigated with the FCM as a DNA fragment sizing method.

The DNA fragments were stained with fluorescent intercalating dyes, TOTO-1 (Paper I) and PicoGreen (Paper II), which bind stoichiometrically to DNA. Thus, the fragment size was directly proportional to the bound dye. The intercalated dye fluoresces up to thousand times higher making it unnecessary to wash the unbound dye (Glazer and Rye 1992; Yan et al. 1999), and in addition increasing the sensitivity of the method. In FCM analysis, only 1-2 picograms of DNA were required compared to the few hundred nanograms usually used for PFGE. Further developments have been made in the DNA staining techniques for the DNA fragment sizing by flow cytometry. For example, Yan et

al. (2000) developed a universal DNA staining protocol using SYTOC Orange stain that had high fluorescence when bound to DNA and was independent of the staining dye to DNA base pair ratio, which caused problems in previous staining techniques used with FCM.

In order to obtain the best resolution between DNA fragments, the endonucleases must not cut the DNA at too many sites which would result in a large number of total fragments that cannot be clearly separated. As in the case with *B. globigii* digested with *Sfi*I, the flow cytometer could not resolve the individual fragments (Paper I) and therefore fragment size determination was not possible. Therefore, the choice of the proper endonuclease is crucial in the fingerprinting analysis by flow cytometry.

1.2. Accuracy, reproducibility and sensitivity of FCM

The ultrasensitive flow cytometer described in this study measured DNA fragments ranging from 20-425 kbp. Larger fragments were present in the restriction enzyme digestion, as evident by the PFGE, but FCM was not able to detect these fragments due to breakage of DNA. Even though all DNA fragments could not be analyzed by the FCM, unique histograms that were comparable to PFGE results were obtained for different species and strains. According to Huang et al. (1996) and Goodwin et al. (1993), the uncertainty for FCM in size determination is approximately 2% while for PFGE it is 10%. In this study, the uncertainty in the DNA size determination was within the 10% when comparing the results between FCM and PFGE. Thus, DNA fragment sizing by FCM is reliable and comparable to PFGE.

During a seven month period, histograms of different preparations of *S. aureus* ATCC 25923 digested with *Sma*I were collected to study the reproducibility of the flow cytometric measurements (Paper II). The fingerprints obtained from different cultures, different sample preparations from the same culture, and different sample analyses were identical. In addition, DNA stored in agarose plugs for several months or in solution for one month had reproducible results.

The FCM analyses of DNA fragment sizes were based on calibration with PFGE results, but in a case of an unknown bacterium, PFGE data is not available. Therefore, an internal standard was developed for the FCM to allow calibration of the burst sizes with fragment length (Paper I). Lambda-DNA was added to the analyte as an internal standard to obtain a calibration curve of 0 kbp (no λ), 48.5 kbp (λ) and 97.0 kbp (two λ s), from which two points were used to convert the centroid positions of the burst peaks of FCM to kilobase pairs. With the internal standard, the fragment sizes were still within the 10% comparison to PFGE results and can be used in the sizing of DNA fragments of unknown bacterium.

The accuracy and precision of the FCM method as compared to PFGE were further assessed by Ferris et al. (2004). They compared the DNA fragment sizes of replicate samples of *S. aureus* Mu50, (completely sequenced genome) and two clinical *S. aureus* isolates digested with *Sma*I by the two methods. According to their results, the accuracy

(percent error from the virtual digestion to the fragment sizes calculated by the specific DNA sizing method) was $5\% \pm 2\%$ for PFGE and $4\% \pm 4\%$ for FCM measurements. The precision (consistency in the sizing of the restriction fragments in repeated analyses) was calculated as mean relative standard deviation values, which were found to be 1.2% $\pm 0.8\%$ and $3\% \pm 2\%$ for FCM and PFGE, respectively. These values are in agreement with the results previously reported in literature (Goodwin et al. 1993; Huang et al. 1999; Duck et al. 2003), including Papers I and II.

1.3. Rapid fingerprinting of bacteria by FCM

The actual analysis time of the DNA size determination by FCM takes about 10 minutes compared to the 15-20 hours by PFGE. However, the DNA sample preparation by the agarose plug method and the overnight electroelution of the digested DNA from the plug results in the overall analysis time similar to that of PFGE. Therefore, a quicker and simpler protocol (Paper II) was developed for the FCM method. By using more effective lysozyme, reducing the time of the steps of the procedure by decreasing the size of the agarose plug, and eliminating the electroelution step by digesting the agarose by GELase, the procedure was shortened to eight hours compared to the traditional DNA isolation procedure by agarose plug taking three to eight days. Although others have described four and eight hours DNA isolation by agarose plug procedures for PFGE (Gautom 1997; Chang and Chui 1998), these DNA preparation still require the electroelution of DNA for FCM analysis. Therefore, with the short protocol, fragment analysis can be done in approximately 8 hours by flow cytometry rather than 24 hours or longer by PFGE.

In conclusion, the DNA fragment sizing by FCM is accurate, reliable, and rapid when compared to the golden standard for bacterial fingerprinting, PFGE. Although with FCM only one sample can be analyzed at a time and with PFGE multiple sample lanes can be run at in parallel, the analysis time is hundred times faster with FCM. In addition, the FCM method requires approximately 200,000 times less DNA compared with PFGE. Even though DNA fragment sizing analysis by the ultrasensitive flow cytometry is an excellent alternative for PFGE, at present, it is not available commercially. However, it is available to the scientific community through the National Flow Cytometry Resource at Los Alamos National Laboratory.

2. SINGLE-ENZYME AMPLIFIED FRAGMENT LENGTH POLYMORPHISM (III)

The conventional method of amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) uses two restriction enzymes (Vos et al. 1995) resulting in fingerprints with hundred or more fragments of 100-500 bp long. The pattern identification is difficult and therefore special software is necessary to analyze the fingerprints and to compare with an AFLP fingerprint library. In this study, a single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism (SE-AFLP) was used to minimize the number of fragments and therefore simplify the comparison of fingerprints (Fig. 5). SE-AFLP has also previously been used for differentiation of *B. cereus* (Ripabelli et al. 2000b), *Chlamydia psittaci* (Boumedine and

Rodolakis 1998), *Helicobacter pylori* (Gibson et al. 1998), *Legionella pneumophilia* (Valsangiacomo et al. 1995), *L. monocytogenes* (Ripabelli et al. 2000a), and *S. enterica* (Peters and Threlfall 2001). In this study, the SE-AFLP method was further investigated as an identification method for different strains of *Bacillus* spp., *E. coli*, *Staphylococcus* spp., and *Yersinia* spp..



Fig. 5. Single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism with *Hin*dIII as performed in Paper III. The restriction site is indicated by * and adapters and primers in black.

The primers *Hin*dIII + AC and *Hin*dIII + G were found to be the best primers for the selective PCR amplification step since it was able to distinguish between the very monomorphic B. anthracis strains Ames and SG-PA3. Both of these primers, if HindIII + AC primer was not alone sufficient, were tested for their capability of differentiating between species and strains of *Bacilli, Escherichia, Staphylococci,* and *Yersinia.* For E. coli and S. aureus, primer HindIII + AC was capable of discriminating between strains and subspecies. With E. coli, the pathogenic strains of serotype O157 ATCC 43888 and 43895 were differentiated from the other strains, but their fragment patterns were identical to each other. This was also the case with the non-pathogenic E. coli strains, MG 1655, ATCC 25254, and ATCC 27662, which is not surprising since they are derived from E. coli K-12. The S. aureus subspecies aureus strains ATCC 29996 and ATCC 25923 patterns were different from each other and from the subspecies anaerobius, ATCC 13301, ATCC 10832, and ATCC 12600. Unfortunately, the patterns within the S. aureus subspecies anaerobius were identical to each other. However, the interesting result was that the fingerprinting pattern of S. aureus subspecies aureus ATCC 29213 was more closely similar to the subspecies *anaerobius* and not to its subspecies *aureus*. With Yersinia spp., SE-AFLP using HindIII + AC and HindIII + G primers, were able to differentiate between Yersinia enterocolitica, Y. pestis and Y. pseudotuberculosis. Within Y. pestis, the strains were not differentiated even with multiple combinations of *Hind*III + X primers, but they could be categorized into ten different groups based on

the SE-AFLP fingerprint patterns with the combination of *Hin*dIII + AC and *Hin*dIII + G primers. From the 25 total strains of *Y. pestis*, fifteen strains grouped into two specific groups suggesting that *Y. pestis* is monomorphic. The closely related species within the *Bacillus* subgroup I (*B. anthracis, B. cereus, B. thuringiensis* and *B. mycoides*) were also studied by using SE-AFLP. The primer *Hin*dIII + AC was able to differentiate strains within *B. cereus, B. thuringiensis* and *B. mycoides*. However, the strains of *B. anthracis* were difficult since there was only slight, if not at all, differences in the fingerprinting patterns. Among 78 *B. anthracis* strains, 97% fragment identity has been observed when studied by conventional AFLP method (Keim et al. 1997).

Even though SE-AFLP appeared to produce various DNA fingerprint patterns, it is not capable of identifying all strains within a species such as *B. anthracis*. However, it improved the differentiation of species and strains within polymorphic bacterial groups. Furthermore, it is highly reproducible as shown by analyses of three separate preparations of *B. thuringiensis* ATCC 10792 (standard deviation ranged from 0.007 - 0.229 for fragment sizes).

3. GFP_{uv}-BASED NISIN BIOASSAY (IV)

Nisin is a ribosomally produced antimicrobial peptide, a bacteriocin, produced by lactic acid bacteria (O'Sullivan et al. 2002). Since it inhibits the growth of other grampositive bacteria, including food-borne pathogens, such as *B. cereus, C. botulinum, C. perfringens, L. monocytogenes* and *S. aureus*, and it is regarded as GRAS (generally recognized as safe; Thomas et al. 2000), over fifty countries worldwide allow it as a food preservative (E234; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996; EEC 1983). It is suitable for many different types of food, but commonly used in dairy products, such as processed cheese, cheese spreads, and puddings, but it is also used in salad dressings, vegetables and even beer (Anonymous 2002; Delves-Broughton et al. 1996). However, the regulations on the amount and foods that nisin can be added to vary by region (Anonymous 2002). Therefore, it is necessary to have methods that quantify nisin from different food products.

In this study, a new indicator *Lactococcus lactis* strain, LAC275, was constructed to create a sensitive nisin quantification detection system. The indicator strain carries the plasmid, pLEB651, with the gfp_{uv} gene encoding an ultraviolet variant of the green fluorescent protein under the control of the nisin-inducible *nisA* promoter (Fig. 6). The plasmid pLEB651 was introduced to *L. lactis* NZ9000 that contained in its chromosome the nisin signal transduction system *nisRK* genes.

The LAC275 cells sense nisin in the environment and respond by activating the twocomponent signal transduction proteins NisK and NisR, which enduces the expression of the GFP_{uv} (Fig. 7). The fluorescence can be measured by a fluorometer and be correlated with the amount of nisin in the environment. The constructed *L. lactis* LAC275 strain was able to detect extracellular nisin from various different food matrices: culture medium, milk, processed cheese, salad dressings, canned tomatoes and liquid egg. Other methods, based on biochemical reactions, immunologic detection, growth inhibition in liquid and solid media, and bioluminescence have been used to quantify nisin, but most of these methods are not as sensitive as LAC275 and have not been tested with multiple different food products (Table 8). Time of flight mass spectrometry (Hindré et al. 2003), flow cytometry (Budde and Rasch 2001), and capillary zone electrophoresis (Rossano et al. 1998) have also been used to detect and quantify nisin. Many of these other detection methods are difficult to perform, not specific for nisin, and/or their sensitivity is not sufficient. Biochemical reactions and agar diffusion methods are based on the inhibitory actions of nisin, but they are not exclusively for detecting nisin (de Vuyst and Vandamme 1994). Immunological methods have similar specificity problems, such as cross-reactivity with lantibiotic subtilin (Falahee and Adams 1992) or other variants of nisin, such as nisin Z (Suárez et al. 1996b). In other



Fig. 6. Schematic representation of the construction of the plasmid pLEB651. The figure was compiled from de Ruyter et al. 1996, Kuipers et al. 1998, and Anonymous 2000. P indicates the promoter *nis*A and *gfp* indicates the gene encoding the ultraviolet variant of the green fluorescent protein.



Fig. 7. The GFP_{uv} fluorescence bioassay for nisin with the indicator strain *L. lactis* LAC275. Sample is inoculated with LAC275 and incubated overnight at 30°C on a microplate. The supernatant is removed from the top of the cell pellet and the fluorescence is measured with excitation at 373 nm and emission at 538 nm.

cases, nisin quantification may be difficult to perform for simultaneous analysis of multiple samples due to specific requirements of the method. For example, a luciferase assay using bioluminescence genes of Xenorhabdus luminescens, luxAB, under the control of the *nisF* promoter and regulated by the NisR and NisK proteins required the addition of a substrate to the cells at a specific growth stage (Wahlström and Saris 1999). Immonen and Karp (2007) improved the luciferase assay by using the complete set of luciferase genes from *Photorhabdus luminescens*, *luxABCDE*, under the control of the nisA promoter. This simplified the assay so that the luciferase substrate was not required to be added to the cells at a specific growth stage. Not only was the procedure simplified, but also the overall time needed to perform the assay was shortened to three hours and the detection limit for nisin quantification was reduced to 0.1 pg/ml in pure solution and 3 pg/ml in milk making it the most sensitive nisin detection system presently available. The sensitivity of the nisin bioassay applying GFP_{uv} allows extensive dilution of foods, thus minimizing materials which could interfere with the analysis. The method also allows the processing of multiple samples at the same time and has been shown to be compatible with different food matrices.

ATCHING								
I	Pure solution*	Canned tomatoes**	Cheese**	Liquid egg**	Milk	Salad dressing**	Sausage**	Whey
ELISA for NisA ^a	0.5		1250					
CD-ELISA¹ for NisZ ^b	10		250					
monoclonal antibodies)								
CD-ELISA ¹ for NisZ ^c	5							
polyclonal antibodies)								
Dot-blot immunoassay for $NisZ^d$	375				155			155
ELISA for NisZ ^e	0.75/ 3.52				1.7			
Competative enzyme nisin	78/ 87 ²				106			90.5
A gar diffusion ^g	12.5							
uxAB bioluminescence	0.0125^{3}				1			
ıssay ^h								
GFP-based bioassay ⁱ	2.5^{4}		006		45	1000	006	
GFP _w -based bioassay ^j	0.01^{4}	1	3.6	6	0.9	1		
uxABCDE	0.0001				0.003			
violuminescence assay ^k								

ja ja

^a Falahee et al. 1990; ^b Suárez et al. 1996b; ^c Suárez et al. 1996a; ^d Bouksaim et al. 1998; ^e Bouksaim et al. 1999; ^f Daoudi et al. 2001; ^g Tramer and Fowler 1964; h Wahlström and Saris 1999; i Reunanen and Saris 2003; i This study (Paper IV); and kImmonen and Karp 2007.

4. MICROBIOTA OF CUSTOMER RETURNED WINES (V)

Wine is considered to be bacterially safe from the common food-related pathogens. The antimicrobial characteristic of wine has been shown by others by inoculating certain bacteria, *E. coli, L. monocytogenes, Shigella* spp., *Salmonella* spp., *S. aureus* and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* into wines; they did not survive for long time in a such harsh environment (Weisse et al. 1995; Harding and Maidment 1996; Marimón et al. 1998; Mugochi et al. 1999; Sugita-Konishi et al. 2001; Just and Daeschel 2003; Møretro and Daeschel 2004). Although these studies have indicated that these bacteria could not expose a risk to wine consumers, customers have returned wines due to food poisoning symptoms. In this study, twelve customer returned wines were analyzed for their microbial content by partial 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis to find out a possible cause for these customer complaints.

Microbial content analysis of wines was difficult since isolation of bacteria from this matrix was problematic. In many cases more colonies were isolated for each wine sample, but not all of them could be further analyzed since they grew poorly or not at all immediately or soon after the preparation of the pure culture. These types of difficulties have also been reported by others who have studied microbial content. Millet and Lonvaud-Funel (2000) reported that wine contains VNC microorganisms and those bacteria that survive the wine environment appear to grow much slower and form smaller colonies than bacteria that have not been exposed to this stressful condition. In order to study these minority species, more efficient growth media have been developed (Renouf and Lonvaud-Funel 2006), but this in return can eliminate other microbes that are present in the wine. We randomly picked and isolated 37 bacteria from the wine samples. The partial 16S rRNA gene was amplified by using universal primers pA and pE' (Edwards et al. 1989) for 16S rRNA gene sequence determination and analysis. All partial 16S rRNA gene sequences were classified by using the Ribosomal Database Project II (RDP) Classifier (version 2.0) to the 80% confidence level for genus identification with the new phylogenetically consistent higher-order bacterial taxonomy proposed by Wang et al. (2007a). The twelve wine samples contained bacteria belonging to Bacillus spp., Pedioccocus spp., Paenibacillus spp., Acetobacter spp., Enhydrobacter spp., Gluconobacter spp., Micrococcus spp., Kocuria spp., Dermabacter spp. and Rothya spp.. The interesting finding was that almost half of the sampled wines contained Bacillus spp. and 15 of the 37 bacterial isolates were identified as Bacillus spp. It is not surprising to find Bacillus spp. in wine since they are common in the environment and their ability to form spores allows them to survive stressful environments (Henriques and Moran 2007). In addition, Bae et al. (2004) have shown that if B. thuringiensis, present in insecticides, is sprayed on wine grapes, they survive the wine making process and end up in the final product. However, the amount of samples containing bacilli raised our curiosity to further study these isolates, especially since the genus Bacillus includes species that can produce toxins and can cause food-poisoning, such as B. cereus (Granum 2007).

The basic local alignment search tool BLAST was used to compare the partial 16S rRNA gene sequences of the fifteen *Bacillus* spp. isolates from wine against the nucleotide database in National Center for Biotechnology Information. Seven of the fifteen Bacillus spp. isolates were identified as Bacillus flexus (n=5), B. simplex (n=1) and B. *megaterium* (n=1) with sequence similarity of \geq 98.7% proposed by Stackebrandt and Ebers (2006) for species identification. Bacillus sp. BAC91 isolated from wine had 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity of 100% to the type strains B. simplex DSM 1321 and Bacillus muralis DSM 16288. Therefore according to 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis, Bacillus sp. BAC91 can belong to either species. The seven other Bacillus spp. isolates had sequence similarities < 98.7% and thus could not be identified at the species level. Others have also reported difficulties in identification of bacterial isolates by 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis. Drancourt et al. (2000) described a broad study for 177 isolates obtained from environmental, veterinary, and clinical sources where 90% of the phenotypically unidentified bacteria were identified by 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis at least to the genus level. However, isolates belonging to Bacillus spp. and *Enhydrobacter* spp. were more difficult to identify to the species level. Species identification failure by 16S rRNA gene sequencing has also been reported for enteric bacteria (Mollet et al. 1997). The inability of identifying Bacillus spp. to the species level is not unusual since they can have very similar or in certain cases almost identical 16S rRNA gene sequences (Ash et al. 1991; Fox et al. 1992).

For further characterization of *Bacillus* sp. BAC91, riboprinting was performed as described by Pirttijärvi et al. (1999) with *Eco*RI using an automated RiboPrinterTM Microbial Characterization System and the RiboprinterTM 2000 System Data Analysis Program. The ribopattern of *Bacillus* sp. BAC91 was compared to the ribopatterns of various different *Bacillus* spp. type strains and their representative toxin producing strains by analyzing the patterns with UPGMA (unweighted pair-group mean arithmetic means) using Pearson's correlation similarity coefficients. The *Bacillus* sp. BAC91 clustered with *B. simplex* with 96% similarity to the type strain *B. simplex* DSM 1321 in the UPGMA dendrogam, which is above the 88% ribopattern similarity for species identification (Suihko and Stackebrandt 2003). With high similarity to the type strain's *B. simplex* DSM 1321 16S rRNA gene sequence and ribopattern, the *Bacillus* sp. BAC91 belongs to *B. simplex*.

Since the genus *Bacillus* includes species that can produce toxins and can possibly cause food-illnesses, all fifteen *Bacillus* spp. isolates were tested for their production of toxic substances by the boar spermatozoa motility assay (Andersson et al. 1998; Andersson et al. 2004). *B. simplex* BAC91 was shown to produce a heat-stable, toxic substance that affected the motility of the sperm cells. The exposed sperm cells were further inspected for the effect of the toxic substance on the mitochondrial inner membrane potential and cell membrane integrity by fluorescent dyes (Hoornstra et al. 2003) JC-1 (mitochondrial stain), propidium iodide and calcein acetoxy methyl (plasma membrane integrity). The toxic substance was found to cause similar damage to the mitochondria of the spermatozoa as cereulide and valinomycin described by Hoornstra et al. (2003). Not much is known about toxin-producing *B. simplex* and their properties, especially

in foods. However, Taylor et al. (2005) and Peltola et al. (2001) have reported of toxinproducing *B. simplex* in a cystic fibrosis patient and from the indoor environment of a moisture damaged building, respectively.

The bacteriocidal and sporacidal potential of wine and grape juice was also assessed for *B. simplex* BAC91, *B. cereus* F4810/72 (cereulide-producer), and *B. cereus* type strain ATCC 14579. The viability of the three bacteria varied when they were exposed to red wine, white wine, and grape juice. Overall the vegetative cells of *B. cereus* F4810/72 and spores of *B. cereus* F4810/72 and *B. cereus* ATCC 14579 were the most resistant to the antimicrobial effects of wine. The vegetative cells and spores of *B. simplex* BAC91 were the most sensitive even though the strain had been isolated from wine. It is possible that after isolation from the wine and growing it in laboratory conditions, the re-introduction of the *B. simplex* BAC91 into the wine environment caused them to become VNC, which has been described for other wine microorganisms (Millet and Lonvaud-Funel 2000).

Wines can become easily contaminated by bacilli through the raw materials or during the making process. Bacilli are common in the environment (dust, soil) and even used in insecticides, such as *B. thuringiensis* (Bae et al. 2004), and therefore can contaminate the grapes used in wine fermentation. In addition, during the wine making process, bacilli can be introduced to it from the pipes and storage containers, which have been shown to be excellent surfaces for formation of spore-rich biofilms (Wijman et al. 2007). Since *Bacillus* spp. were found in half of the customer returned wine samples and that spores of *B. cereus* can survive in grape juice and wine, this further suggest that if bacilli, more specifically spores, contaminate wine, they can be a possible risk to the consumer. The risk is not necessarily in the direct consumption of wine, but perhaps more when wine is used in cooking. The heating of wine can cause the spores to germinate, grow, and possibly produce toxins in the food, which can result in food poisoning as in the case with B. cereus. However, to fully assess the risk of bacilli in wine, a broader study with larger amounts of wine samples is needed. Also, including culture-independent methods in the microbial content analysis would give a better understanding of the actual microbial population in wine, which are not detectable by culture-dependent methods.

CONCLUSIONS

In emergency cases, such as food epidemics or biological warfare, detecting and identifying quickly the unknown organism(s) that is causing the illness is crucial. These detection and identification methods must be simple and quick, yet sensitive and reproducible. PFGE is considered to be the "golden method" in identifying the causative organism in cases of food, water and hospital epidemics. Although the method is reliable and accurate, the sample preparation and analysis are time consuming. FCM was studied as an alternative for PFGE for bacterial subtyping analysis. In this thesis, FCM bacterial fingerprinting discriminated species and strains in a reproducible and comparable manner to PFGE. The FCM method was hundreds times faster and 200,000 times more sensitive. Another DNA fingerprinting identification method is AFLP, but the conventional double enzyme AFLP produces results that are difficult to analyze without appropriate software and databases. By SE-AFLP, the resulting fragment patterns were simplified and the genera, species and strains of pathogenic bacteria of *Bacilli, Staphylococci, Yersinia* and *E. coli* could be differentiated. However, monomorphic species, such as *B. anthracis* and *Y. pestis*, could only be identified at the species level.

Food preservatives and food additives are components of food that need regulation and control. Nisin (E234), for example, is a food preservative that is allowed to be added to different types of food, especially dairy products, around the world. Various detection methods exist for nisin, but they lack either sensitivity, speed or specificity. In this thesis, a sensitive nisin-induced GFP_{uv} bioassay was developed using the *L. lactis* two-component signal system NisRK and the nisin-inducible *nisA* promoter. The bioassay was shown to be compatible with analyzing nisin from various food matrices and was shown to be extremely sensitive with detection limits ranging from 10 pg/ml in culture medium to 3.6 ng/g in cheese.

A common belief is that wine is free of bacteria that can cause food poisoning. However a heat-stable mitochondriotoxin producing *B. simplex* BAC91 was isolated from a customer returned wine. Although vegetative cells and spores of *B. simplex* BAC91 were sensitive to the antimicrobial effects of wine, spores of *B. cereus* strains ATCC 14579 and F4810/72 remained viable. These results are worrisome since this suggests that if wine becomes contaminated with *Bacillus* spp., particularly spores, they can survive to the final product and be a potential risk to consumers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out both at the Los Alamos National Laboratory, New Mexico, United States and at the Division of Microbiology, Department of Applied Chemistry and Microbiology, University of Helsinki, Finland. I would like to express my deep gratitude to these institutes and to the funding agencies that supported my work, including U.S. Department of Energy, National Flow Cytometry Resource, Federal Bureau of Investigation, National Institute of Health, Academy of Finland, Alko Inc., Altia Corp., Viikki Graduate School in Biosciences (VGSB) and Graduate School on Applied Bioscience-Bioengineering, Food & Nutrition, Environment (ABS). In addition, I wish to acknowledge VGSB and ABS Graduate Schools for providing courses and lectures.

I am thankful to my former supervisor at the Biosciences Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory Babetta Marrone for the wonderful scientific opportunity and encouragement and to my supervisor at the Division of Microbiology Professor Per Saris for giving me challenging projects, constructive supervision and guidance.

I would also like to thank my reviewers Professor Matti Karp and Docent Vesa Kontinen for critical reviewing of this thesis and giving me valuable suggestions for improving it.

All co-authors are acknowledged for their contributions to the papers: Stefan Burde, Hong Cai, James Jett, Douwe Hoornstra, Richard Keller, Yongseong Kim, Erica Baron Larson, Babetta Marrone, Justus Reunanen, Professor Per Saris, Professor Mirja Salkinoja-Salonen, James Snodgrass and Nileena Velappan.

I wish to thank my follow-up group members Docents Juha Apajalahti and Marko Virta for their support. The present and former members of the Lactic Acid Bacteria Group that have made the past years enjoyable: Hanan Abbas Hilmi, Shea Beasley, Fang "Rose" Cheng, Mari Heikkilä, Sahar Navidghasemizad, Titta Manninen, Justus Reunanen, Ömer Simsek, Timo Takala and Ulla Saarela. In addition, my warmest thanks to my former collegues at the Los Alamos National Laboratory: Erica Baron, Stefan Burde, Hong Cai, Cheryl Lemanski, Nileena Velappan and Xiaomei Yan. I thank all my collegues at the Division of Microbiology for the enjoyable discussions we have had throughout the years. I wish to thank the members of the "knitting group" Shea, Anne, Henrietta and Mari for the relaxing evenings we have had around the food table. Special thanks to Anne for helping me with the process of getting ready for the dissertation.

I want to thank my parents, especially my father Seppo for sparking my interest in science. In addition, my warmest gratitude goes to my mother Birgit and my parents-inlaw Arja and Markku for their support and taking care of Armas when ever it has been necessary, so that I could complete my studies.

My deepest gratitude goes to my husband Marko and my son Armas. Marko, you gave me that extra push to continue with my interest in science and never letting me give up. Armas, you have given me enormous joy and perspective to life.

Helsinki May 2008

anothe Haleasus

REFERENCES

Aarnisalo, K., T. Autio, A.-M. Sjöberg, J. Lundén, H. Korkeala, and M.-L. Suihko. 2003. Typing of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolates originating from the food processing industry with automated ribotyping and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J. Food Prot. **66**:249-255.

Agronskaia, A., J.M. Schins, B.G. de Grooth, and J. Greve. 1999. Polarization effects in flow cytometric DNA sizing. Appl. Opt. **38**:714-719.

Álvarez-Barrientos, A., J. Arroyo, R. Cantón, C. Nombela, and M. Sánchez-Pérez. 2000. Applications of flow cytometry to clinical microbiology. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. **13**:167-195.

Andersson, M.A., R. Mikkola, J. Helin, M.C. Andersson, and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 1998. A novel sensitive bioassay for detection of *Bacillus cereus* emetic toxin and related depsipeptide ionophores. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **64:**1338-1343.

Andersson, M.A., E.L. Jääskeläinen, R. Shaheen, T. Pirhonen, L.M. Wijnands, and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 2004. Sperm bioassay for rapid detection of cereulide-producing *Bacillus cereus* in food and related environments. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **94:**175-183.

Anonymous. 2000. Living colors user manual. Clonetech Laboratories Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA.

Anonymous. 2002. International acceptance of nisin as a food preservative. p. 1-4. Danisco technical memorandum no. TM 2-2e SPEC. Danisco A/S, Brabrand, Denmark.

Apetroaie, C., M.A. Andersson, C. Spröer, I. Tsitko, R. Shaheen, E.L. Jääskeläinen, L.M. Wijnands, R. Heikkilä, and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 2005. Cereulide-producing strains of *Bacillus cereus* show diversity. Arch. Microbiol. **184**:141-151.

Arbeit, R.D. 1995. Laboratory procedures for the epidemiologic analysis of microorganisms, pp. 190-208. *In* P.R. Murray, E.J. Baron, M.A. Pfaller, F.C. Tenover, and R. H. Yolken (ed.), Manual of clinical microbiology, 6th ed. American Society of Microbiology, Washington, D.C., USA.

Arora, K., S. Chand, and B.D. Malhotra. 2006. Recent developments in bio-molecular electronics techniques for food pathogens. Anal. Chim. Acta 568:259-274.

Ash, C., J.A.E. Farrow, M. Dorsch, E. Stackebrandt, and M.D. Collins. 1991. Comparative analysis of *Bacillus anthracis, Bacillus cereus,* and related species on the basis of reverse transcriptase sequencing of 16S rRNA. Int. J. Sys. Bacteriol. **41**:343-346.

Bae, S., G.H. Fleet, and G.M. Heard. 2004. Occurence and significance of *Bacillus thuringiensis* on wine grapes. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **94:**301-312.

Baeumner, A.J. 2003. Biosensors for environmental pollutants and food contaminants. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. **377:**434-445.

Bailey, J.E., J. Fazel-Madjlessi, D.N. McQuitty, L.Y. Lee, J.C. Allred, and J.A. Oro. 1977. Characterization of bacterial growth by means of flow microfluorometry. Science **198**:1175-1176.

Bailey, J.S., P.J. Fedorka-Cray, N.J. Stern, S.E. Craven, N.A. Cox, and D.E. Cosby. 2002 Serotyping and ribotyping of *Salmonella* using restriction enzyme *Pvu*II. J. Food Prot. **65:**1005-1007.

Bingen, E.H., E. Denamur, and J. Elion. 1994. Use of ribotyping in epidemiological surveillance of nosocomial outbreaks. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. **7:**311-327.

Bolton, F.J., A.D. Sails, A.J. Fox, D.R.A. Wareing, and D.L.A. Greenway. 2002. Detection of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in foods by enrichment culture and polymerase chain reaction enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J. Food Prot. **65**:760-767.

Bottger, E.C. 1989. Rapid determination of bacterial ribosomal RNA sequences by direct sequencing of enzymatically amplified DNA. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. **53**:171-176.

Bouksaim, M., C. Lacroix, R. Bazin, and R.E. Simard. 1999. Production and utilization of polyclonal antibodies against nisin in and ELISA and for immuno-location of nisin in producing and sensitive bacterial strains. J. Appl. Microbiol. **87:**500-510.

Bouksaim, M., I. Fliss, J. Meghrous, R. Simard, and C. Lacroix. 1998. Immunodot detection of nisin Z in milk and whey using enhanced chemiluminescence. J. Appl. Bacteriol. **84:**176-184.

Boumedine, K.S., and A. Rodolakis. 1998. AFLP allows the identification of genomic markers of ruminant *Chlamydia psittaci* strains useful for typing and epidemiological studies. Res. Microbiol. **149**:735-744.

Breeuwer, P., and T. Abee. 2000. Assessment of viability of microorganisms employing fluorescence techniques. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **55:**193-200.

Brehm-Stecher, B.F., and E.A. Johnson. 2004. Single-cell microbiology: tools, technologies, and applications. Microbiol. Mol. Bio. Rev. 68:538-559.

Brosch, R., C. Bruchrieser, and J. Rocourt. 1991. Sybtyping *Listeria monocytogenes* serovar-4b by use of low frequency-cleavage restriction endonucleases and pulsed field gel electrophoresis. Res. Microbiol. **142:**667-675.

Budde, B.B., and M. Rasch. 2001. A comparative study on the use of flow cytometry and colony forming units for assessment of the antibacterial effect of bacteriocins. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **63:**65-72.

Buzby, J.C., T. Roberts, C.-T.J. Lin, and J.M. MacDonald. 1996. Bacterial foodborne disease: medical costs and productivity losses. Washington DC: United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Agricultural Economic Report No. 741.

Call, D.R. 2005. Challenges and opportunities for pathogen detections using DNA microarrays. Crit. Rev. Microbiol. **31:**91-99.

Call, D.R., M.K. Borucki, and F.J. Loge. 2003. Detection of bacterial pathogens in environmental samples using DNA microarrays. J. Microbiol. Methods **53**:235-243.

Carlson, C.R., D.A. Caugant, and A.-B. Kolstø. 1994. Genotypic diversity among *Bacillus cereus* and *Bacillus thuringiensis* strains. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **60**:1719-1725.

Castro, A., and E.B. Shera. 1995. Single-molecule electrophoresis. Anal. Chem. 67:3181-3186.

Castro, A., F.R. Fairfield, and E.B. Shera. 1993. Fluorescence detection and size measurement of single DNA molecules. Anal. Chem. **65**:849-852.

Chang, N., and L. Chui. 1998. A standardization protocol for the rapid preparation of bacterial DNA for pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. **31:**275-279.

Chiang, Y.-C., C.-Y. Yang, C. Li, Y.-C. Ho, C.-K. Lin, and H.-Y. Tsen. 2006. Identification of *Bacillus* spp., *Escherichia coli, Salmonella* spp., *Staphylococcus* spp., and *Vibrio* spp. with 16S ribosomal DNA-based oligonucleotide array hybridization. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **107:**131-137.

Chen, C.H., H.C. Ding, and T.C. Chang. 2001. Rapid identification of *Bacillus cereus* based on the detection of a 28.5 kilodalton cell surface antigen. J. Food Prot. **64**:348-354.

Chou, H.-P., C. Spence, A. Scherer, and S. Quake. 1999. A microfabricated device for sizing and sorting DNA molecules. Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 96:11-13.

Cooper, M.A. 2003. Label-free screening of bio-molecular interactions. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. **377:**834-842.

Daly, P., T. Collier, and S. Doyle. 2002. PCR-ELISA detection of *Escherichia coli* in milk. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. **34**:222-226.

Daoudi, L., C. Turcotte, C. Lacroix, and I. Fliss. 2001. Production and characterization of antinisin Z monoclonal antibodies: suitability for distinguishing active from inactive forms through competitive enzyme immunoassay. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **56**:112-119.

Davey, H.M., and D.B. Kell. 1996. Flow cytometry and cell sorting of heterogenous microbial populations: the importance of single-cell analyses. Microbiol. Rev. **60:**641-696.

de Boer, E., and R.R. Beumer. 1999. Methodology for detection and typing of foodborne microorganisms. Int. J. Food. Microbiol. **50:**119-130.

Deishing, A.K., and M. Thompson. 2004. Strategies for the detection of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 in foods. J. Appl. Microbiol. **96:**419-429.

Delves-Broughton, J., P. Blackburn, R.J. Evans, and J. Hugenholtz. 1996. Applications of the bacteriocin, nisin. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. **69:**193-202.

de Ruyter, P.G.G.A., O.P. Kuipers, and W.M. de Vos. 1996. Controlled gene expression systems for *Lactococcus lactis* with the food-grade inducer nisin. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **62:**3662-3667.

de Vuyst, L., and E.J. Vandamme. 1994. Nisin, a lantibiotic produced by *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *lactis*: properties, biosynthesis, fermentation, and applications, pp. 151-221. *In* L. de Vuyst, E.J. Vandamme (ed.), Bacteriocins of lactic acid bacteria. Microbiology, Genetics and Applications. Blackie Academic & Professional, London, UK.

Drancourt, M., C. Bollet, A. Carlioz, R. Martelin, J.-P. Gayral, and D. Raoult. 2000. 16S ribosomal DNA sequence analysis of a large collection of environmental and clinical unidentifiable bacterial isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. **38**:3623-3630.

D'Souza, S.F. 2001. Microbial biosensors. Biosens. Bioelectron. 16:337-353.

Duck, W.M., C.D. Steward, S.N. Banerjee, J.E. Mcgowan, Jr., and F.C. Tenover. 2003. Optimization of computer software settings improves accuracy of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis macrorestriction fragment pattern analysis. J. Clin. Microbiol. **41**:3035-3042.

Edwards, M.C., M.F. Stringer, and The Breakdowns in Food Safety Group. 2007. Observations on patterns in foreign material investigations. Food Control 18:773-782.

Edwards, U., T. Rogall, H. Blöcker, M. Emde, and E.C. Bötgger. 1989. Isolation and direct complete nucleotide determination of entire genes. Characterization of a gene coding for 16S ribosomal RNA. Nucleic Acids Res. 17:7843-7853.

European Economic Community. 1983. EEC Commision Directive 83/463/EEC.

Eom, H.S., B.H. Hwang, D.-H. Kim, I.-B. Lee, Y.H. Kim, and H.J. Cha. 2007. Multiple detection of food-borne pathogenic bacteria using a novel 16S rDNA-based oligonucleotide signature chip. Biosens. Bioelectron. **22**:845-853.

Evira. 2007. Ruokamyrkytykset Suomessa vuonna 2006. (in Finnish). Eviran julkaisuja 21/2007.

Falahee, M.B., and M.R. Adams. 1992. Cross-reactivity of bacteriocins from lactic acid bacteria and lantibiotics in a nisin bioassay and ELISA. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 15:214-216.

Falahee, M.B., M.R. Adams, J.W. Dale, and B.A. Morris. 1990. An enzyme immunoassay for nisin. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 25:590-595.

Feng, P. 2001. Development and impact of rapid methods for detection of foodborne pathogens. pp. 775-796. *In* M.P. Doyle (ed.), Food microbiology: fundamentals and frontiers, ASM Press, Washington, D.C., USA.

Ferris, M.M., T.M. Yoshida, B.L. Marrone, and R.A. Keller. 2005. Fingerprinting of single viral genomes. Anal. Biochem. 337:278-288.

Ferris, M.M., X. Yan, R.C. Habbersett, Y. Shou, C.L. Lemanski, J.H. Jett, T.M. Yoshida, and B.L. Marrone. 2004. Performance assessment of DNA fragments sizing by high-sensitivity flow cytometry and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42:1965-1976.

Fox, G.E., J.D. Wisotzkey, and P. Jurtshuk, Jr. 1992. How close is close: 16S rRNA sequence identity may not be sufficient to guarantee species identity. Int. J. Syst. Bacteriol. **42**:166-170.

Garaizer, J., A. Rementeria, and S. Porwollik. 2006. DNA microarray technology: a new tool for the epidemiological typing of bacterial pathogens? FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. **47:**178-189.

Gautom, R.K. 1997. Rapid pulsed-field gel electrophoresis protocol for typing of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other gram-negative organisms in 1 day. J. Clin. Microbiol. **35**:2977-2980.

Gerner-Smidt, P., K. Hise, J. Kincaid, S. Hunter, S. Rolando, E. Hyytiä-Trees, E.M. Ribot, B. Swaminathan, and the PulseNet Taskforce. 2006. PulseNet USA: A five-year update. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 3:9-19.

Gibson, J.R., E. Slater, J. Xerry, D. Tompkins, and R.J. Owen. 1998. Use of amplified fragment polymorphism technique to fingerprint and differentiate isolates of *Helicobacter pylori*. J. Clin. Microbiol. **36:**2580-2585.

Glazer, A.N., and H.S. Rye. 1992. Stable dye-DNA intercalation complexes as reagents for highsensitivity fluorescence detection. Nature **359:**859-861.

Glynn, B., S. Lahiff, M. Wernecke, T. Barry, T.J. Smith, and M. Maher. 2006. Current and emerging molecular diagnostic technologies applicable to bacterial food safety. Int. J. Dairy Tech. **59:**126-139.

Goodwin, P.M, M.E. Johnson, J.C. Martin, W.P. Ambrose, B.L. Marrone, J.H. Jett, and R.A. Keller. 1993. Rapid sizing of individual fluorescently stained DNA fragments by flow cytometry. Nucleic Acids Res. 21:803-806.

Gracias, K.S., and J.L. McKillip. 2004. A review of conventional detection and enumeration methods for pathogenic bacteria in food. Can. J. Microbiol. **50**:883-890.

Granum, P.E. 2007. *Bacillus cereus*. pp. 445-446. *In* M.P. Doyle (ed.), Food microbiology: fundamentals and frontiers, ASM Press, Washington, D.C., USA.

Grennan, B., N.A. O'Sullivan, R. Fallon, C. Carroll, T. Smith, M. Glennon, and M. Maher. 2001. PCR-ELISAs for the detection of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in poultry samples. Biotechniques **30:**602-610.

Grundmann, H., C. Schneider, D. Hartung, F.D. Daschner, and T.L. Pitt. 1995. Discriminatory power of three DNA-based typing techniques for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Clin. Microbiol. **33**:528-534.

Gunasekera, T.S., P.V. Attfield, and D.A. Veal. 2000. A flow cytometry method for rapid detection and enumeration of total bacteria in milk. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66:1228-1232.

Hagens, S., and M.J. Loessner. 2007. Application of bacteriophages for detection and control of foodborne pathogens. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 76:513-519.

Harding, C., and C. Maidment. 1996. An investigation into the anti-bacterial effects of wine and other beverages. J. Biol. Educ. **30**:237-239.

Helgason, E., O.A. Økstad, D.A. Caugant, H.A. Johansen, A. Fouet, M. Mock, I. Hegna, and A.-B. Kolstó. 2000. *Bacillus anthracis, Bacillus cereus,* and *Bacillus thuringiensis* - one species on the basis of genetic evidence. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **66**:2627-2630.

Henriquez, A.O., and C.P. Moran. 2007. Structure, assembly, and function of the spore surface layers. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. **61:**555-588.

Hill, K.K, L. O. Ticknor, R.T. Okinaka, M. Asay, H. Blair, K.A: Bliss, M. Laker, P.E. Pardington, A.P. Richardson, M. Tonks, D.J. Beecher, J.D. Kemp, A.-B. Kolstø, A.C.L. Wong, P. Keim, and P.J. Jackson. 2004. Fluorescent amplified fragment length polymorphism analysis of *Bacillus anthracis, Bacillus cereus*, and *Bacillus thuringiensis* isolates. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **70**:1068-1080.

Hindré, T., S.B. Didelot, J.-P. Le Pennec, D. Haras, A. Dufour, and K. Vallée-Réhel. 2003. Bacteriocin detection from whole bacteria by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **69**:1051-1058.

Holst-Jensen, A., S.B. Rønning, A. Løvseth, and K.G. Berdal. 2003. PCR technology for screening and quantification of genetically modified organisms (GMOs). Anal. Bioanal. Chem. **375:**985-993.

Hoornstra, D., M.A. Andersson, R. Mikkola and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 2003. A new method for *in vitro* detection of microbially produced mitochondrial toxins. Toxicol. In Vitro. **17:**745-751.

Huang, Z., J.H Jett, and R.A. Keller. 1999. Bacteria genome fingerprinting by flow cytometry. Cytometry **35**:169-175.

Huang, Z., J.T. Perry, B. O'Quinn, J.L. Longmire, N.C. Brown, J.H. Jett, and R.A. Keller. 1996. Large DNA fragment sizing by flow cytometry: application to the characterization of P1 artificial chromosome (PAC) clones. Nucleic Acids Res. 24:4202-4209.

Hurst, A. 1977. Bacterial injury: a review. Can. J. Microbiol. 23:936-944.

Immonen, N., and M. Karp. 2007. Bioluminescence-based bioassay for rapid detection of nisin in food. Biosens. Bioelectron. 22:1982-1987.

Jackson, P.J., K.K. Hill, M.T. Laker, L.O. Ticknor, and P. Keim. 1999. Genetic comparison of *Bacillus anthracis* and its close relatives using amplified fragment length polymorphism and polymerase chain reaction analysis. J. Appl. Microbiol. **87**:263-269.

Janssen, P., R. Coopman, G. Huys, J. Swings, M. Bleeker, P. Vos, M. Zabeau and K. Kersters. 1996. Evaluation of the DNA fingerpringting method AFLP as a new tool in bacterial taxonomy. Microbiology, **142**:1881-1893.

Jay, J., M.J. Loessner, and D.A. Golden. 2005. Chemical, biological, and physical methods. pp. 241-284. *In* Modern food microbiology (7th ed.), Springer Science + Business Media, Inc., New York, NY, USA.

Just, J. R., and M. A. Daeschel. 2003. Antimicrobial effects of wine on *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 and *Salmonella typhimurium* in a model stomach system. J. Food Science **68**:285-290.

Jureen, R., S. Harthug, S. Sørnes, A. Digranes, R.J.L. Willems, and N. Langeland. 2004. Comparative analysis of amplified fragment length polymorphism and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis in a hospital outbreak and subsequent endemicity of ampicillin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium*. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. **40**:33-39.

Keim, P., A. Kalif, J. Schupp, K. Hill, S.E. Travis, K. Richmond, D.M. Adair, M. Hugh-Jones, C.R. Kuske, and P.J. Jackson. 1997. Molecular evolution and diversity in *Bacillus anthracis* as detected by amplified fragment length polymorphism markers. J. Bacteriol. **179:**818-824.

Kell, D.B., A.S. Kaprelyants, D.H. Weichart, C.R. Harwood, and M.R. Barer. 1998. Viability and activity in readily culturable bacteria: a review and discussion of the practical issues. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 73:169-187.

Kim, Y., J.H. Jett, E.J. Larson, J.R. Penttila, B.L. Marrone, and R.A. Keller. 1999. Bacterial fingerprinting by flow cytometry: bacterial species discrimination. Cytometry **36**:324-334.

Ko, S., and S.A. Grant. 2003. Development of a novel FRET method for detection of *Listeria* or *Salmonella*. Sens. Actuators B **96:**372-378.

Koeleman, J.G.M., J. Stoof, D.J. Biesmans, P.H.M. Savelkoul, and C.M.J.E. Vandenbrouke-Grauls. 1998. Comparison of amplified ribosomal DNA restriction analysis, random fragment polymorphic DNA analysis, and amplified fragment length polymorphism fingerprinting for identification of *Acinetobacter* genomic species and typing of *Acinetobacter baumannii*. J. Clin. Microbiol. **36**:2522-2529.

Kostrzynska, M., and A. Bachand. 2006. Application of DNA microarray technology for detection, identification, and characterization of food-borne pathogens. Can. J. Microbiol. **52**:1-8.

Kretzer, J.W., R. Lehmann, M. Schmelcher, M. Banz, K.-P. Kim, C. Korn, and M.J. Loessner. 2007. Use of high-affinity cell wall-binding domains of bacteriophage endolysins for immobilization and separation of bacterial cells. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73:1992-2000.

Kuipers, O.P., P.G.G.A. de Ruyter, M. Kleerebezem, and W.M. de Vos. 1998. Quorum sensing-controlled gene expression in lactic acid bacteria. J. Biotechnol. 64:15-21.

Laplace-Builhé, C., K. Hahne, W. Hunger, Y. Tirilly, and J.L. Drocourt. 1993. Application of flow cytometry to rapid microbial analysis in food and drinks industries. Biol. Cell. **78**:123-128.

Larson, E.J., J.R. Hakovirta, H. Cai, J.H. Jett, S. Burde, R.A. Keller, and B.L. Marrone. 2000. Rapid DNA fingerprinting of pathogens by flow cytometry. Cytometry **41**:203-208.

Lazcka O., F.J. Del Campo, and F.X. Munoz. 2007. Pathogen detection: a perspective of traditional methods and biosensors. Biosens. Bioelectron. 22:1205-1217.

Lin, J.-J., J. Kuo, and J. Ma. 1996. A PCR-based DNA fingerprinting technique: AFLP for molecular typing of bacteria. Nucleic Acids Res. 18:3649-3650.

Link, A.J., K.J. Jeong, and G. Georgiou. 2007. Beyond toothpicks: new methods for isolating mutant bacteria. Nature 5:680-688.

Longobardi Givan, A. 2001. Flow cytometry: first principles. 2nd ed. Wiley-Liss, Inc., New York, USA.

Lukinmaa, S., K. Aarnisalo, M.-L. Suihko, and A. Siitonen. 2004. Diversity of *Listeria monoocytogenes* isolates of human and food origin studied by serotyping, automated ribotyping and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. **10**:562-568.

Lynch, M., J. Painter, R. Woodruff, and C. Braden. 2006. Surveillance of foodborne diseases outbreaks-United States 1998-2002. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep. 55:1-48.

Malacrinò, P., G. Zapparoli, S. Torriani, and F. Dellaglio. 2001. Rapid detection of viable yeasts and bacteria in wine by flow cytometry. J. Microbiol. Methods 45:127-134.

Malorny, B., P.T. Tassios, P. Rådström, N. Cook, M. Wagner, and J. Hoorfar. 2003. Standardization of diagnostic PCR for the detection of foodborne pathogens. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 83:39-48.

Manafi, M. 2000. New developments in chromagenic and fluorogenic culture media. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 60:205-218.

Mandrell, R.E., and M.R. Wachtel. 1999. Novel detection techniques for human pathogens that contaminate poultry. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 10:273-278.

Marimón, J. M, L. Bujanda, M.A. Gutierrez-Stampa, A. Cosme, and J.I. Arenas. 1998. Antibacterial activity of wine against *Salmonella enteritidis* pH or alcohol? J. Clin. Gastroenterol. **27:**179-180.

Mead, P. S., L. Slutsker, V. Dietz, L.F. McCaig, J.S. Bresee, C. Shapiro, P.M. Griffin, and R.V. Tauze. 1999. Food-related illnesses and death in the United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 5:607-625.

Melles, D.C., W.B. van Leeuwen, S.V. Snijders, D. Horst-Kreft, J.K. Peeters, H.A. Verbrugh, and A. van Belkum. 2007. Comparison of multilocus typing (MLST), pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), and amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) for genetic typing of *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Microbiol. Methods **69:**371-375.

Millet, V., and A. Lonvaud-Funel. 2000. The viable but non-culturable state of wine microorganisms during storage. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 30:136-141.

Mollet, C., M. Drancourt, and D. Raoult. 1997. *rboB* sequence analysis as a novel basis for bacterial identification. Mol. Microbiol. 26:1005-1011.

Monis, P.T., and S. Giglio. 2006. Nucleic acid amplification-based technique for pathogen detection and identification. Infect. Genet. Evol. 6:2-12.

Møretrø, T., and M.A. Daeschel. 2004. Wine is bactericidal to foodborne pathogens. J. Food Sci. 69:M251-M257.

Mugochi, T., W. Parawira, A. Mpofu, C. Simango, and R. Zvauya. 1999. Survival of some species of *Salmonella* and *Shigella* in *mukumbi*, a traditional Zimbabwean wine. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. **50:**451-455.

Nachamkin, I. 2001. *Campylobacter jejuni*. pp. 179-192. *In* M.P. Doyle (ed.), Food microbiology: fundamentals and frontiers, ASM Press, Washington, D.C., USA.

Nebe-von-Caron, G., P.J. Stephens, C.J. Hewitt, J.R. Powell, and R.A. Badley. 2000. Analysis of bacterial function by multi-colour fluorescence flow cytometry and single cell sorting. J. Microbiol Methods **42**:97-114.

Notermans, S., and K. Wernars. 1991. Immunological methods for detection of foodborne pathogens and their toxins. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **12:**91-102.

Olive, D.M., and P. Bean. 1999. Principles and applications of methods for DNA-based typing of microbial organisms. J. Clin. Microbiol. **37:**1661-1669.

O'Connor, L., J. Joy, M. Kane, T. Smith, and M. Maher. 2000. Rapid polymerase chain reaction/DNA probe membrane-based assay for detection of *Listeria* and *Listeria monocytogenes* in food. J. Food Prot. **63**:337-342.

Olsen, G., and C.R. Woese. 1993. Ribosomal RNA: a key to phylogeny. FASEB J. 7:113-123.

Olsen, J.E., S. Aabo, W. Hill, S. Notermans, K. Wernars, P.E. Granum, T. Popovic, H.N. Rasmussen, and Ø. Olsvik. 1995. Probes and polymerase chain reaction for detection of food-borne bacterial pathogens. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **28**:1-78.

Olsen, S.J., L.C. Mackinnon, J.S. Goulding, N.H. Bean, and L. Slutsker. 2000. Surveillance of foodborne diseases outbreaks-United States 1993-1997. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.**9:**1-62.

O'Sullivan, C.K., and G.G. Guilbault. 1999. Commercial quartz crystal microbalances – theory and applications. Biosen. Bioelectron. **14:**663-670.

O'Sullivan, N.A., R. Fallon, C. Carroll, T. Smith, and M. Maher. 2000. Detection and differentiation of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in broiler chicken samples using a PCR/DNA probe membrane-based colorimetric detection assay. Mol. Cell. Probes **14:**7-16.

O'Sullivan, L., R.P. Ross, and C. Hill. 2002. Potential of bacteriocin-producing lactic acid bacteria for improvements in food safety and quality. Biochimie 84:593-604.

Paau, A.S., J.R. Cowles, and J. Oro. 1977. Flow-microfluorometric analysis of *Escherichia coli, Rhizobium meliloti, and Rhizobium japonicum* at different stages of the growth cycle. Can. J. Microbiol. **23:**1165-1169.

Peltola, J., M.A. Andersson, T. Haahtela, H. Mussala-Rauhamaa, F.A. Rainey, R. M. Kroppenstedt, R.A. Samson, and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 2001. Toxic-metabolite-producing bacteria and fungus in an indoor environment. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67: 3269-3274.

Peplow, M.O., M. Correa-Prisant, M.E. Stebbins, F. Jones, and P. Davies. 1999. Sensitivity, specificity, and predictive values of three *Salmonella* rapid detection kits using fresh and frozen poultry environmental samples versus those of standard plating. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **65:**1055-1065.

Peters, T.M., and E.J. Threlfall. 2001. Single-enzyme amplified fragment length polymorphism and its applicability for *Salmonella* epidemiology. System. Appl. Microbiol. 24:400-404.

Petty, J.T., M.E. Johnson, P.M. Goodwin, J.C. Martin, J.J. Jett, and R.A. Keller. 1995. Characterization of DNA size determination of small fragments by flow cytometry. Anal. Chem. 67:1755-1761.

Pirttijärvi, T.S.M., M.A. Andersson, A.C. Scoging, and M.S. Salkinoja-Salonen. 1999. Evaluation of methods for recognizing strains of the *Bacillus cereus* group with food poisoning potential among industrial and environmental contaminants. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. **22**:133-144.

Prevost, G., B. Jaulhac, and Y. Piemont. 1992. DNA fingerprinting by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis is more effective than ribotyping in distinguishing among methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. **30**:967-973.

Price, C.S, H. Huynh, S. Paule, R.J. Hollis, G.A. Noskin, M.A. Pfaller, and L.R. Peterson. 2002. Comparison of an automated ribotyping system to restriction endonuclease analysis and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis for differentiating vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus faecium* isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. **40**:1858-1861.

Rahman, S., R.J. Lipert, and M.D. Porter. 2006. Rapid screening of pathogenic bacteria using solid phase concentration and diffuse reflectance spectroscopy. Anal. Chim. Acta **569**:83-90.

Ray, B. 1986. Impact of bacterial injury and repair in food microbiology: its past, present and future. J. Food Prot. **49:**651-655.

Renouf, V., and A. Lonvaud-Funel. 2007. Development of an enrichment medium to detect *Dekkera/Brettanomyces bruxellensis*, a spoilage wine yeast, on the surface of grape berries. Microbiol. Res. **162:**154-167.

Reunanen, J., and P.E.J. Saris. 2003. Microplate bioassay for nisin in foods, based on nisininduced green fluorescent protein fluorescence. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **69:**4214-4218.

Ripabelli, G., J. McLauchlin, and E.J. Threlfell. 2000a. Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) analysis of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. **23**:132-136.

Ripabelli, G., J. McLauchlin, V. Mithani, and E.J. Threlfell. 2000b. Epidemiological typing of *Bacillus cereus* by amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP). Lett. Appl. Microbiol. **30:**358-363.

Robertson, B.H., and J.K.A. Nicholson. 2005. New microbiological tools for public health and their implications. Annu. Rev. Public Health. **26:**281-302.

Rodríguez-Lázaro D., B. Lombard, H. Smith, A. Rzezutka, M. D'Agastino, R. Helmuth, A. Schroeter, B. Malorny, A. Miko, B. Guerra, J. Davison, A. Kobilinsky, M. Hernández, Y. Berhteau, and N. Cook. 2007. Trends in analytical methodology in food safety and quality: monitoring microorganisms and genetically modified organisms. Trends Food Science Technol. 18:306-319.

Rossano, R., A. Del Fiore, A. D'Elia, G. Pesole, E. Parente, and P. Riccio. 1998. New procedure for the determination of nisin in milk. Biotechnol. Tech. 12:783-786.

Saiki, R.K., S. Scharf, F. Faloona, K.B. Mullis, G.T. Horn, H.A. Erlich, and N. Arnheim. 1985. Enzymatic amplification of β-globin genomic sequences and restriction site analysis for diagnosis of sickle cell anemia. Science 230:1350-1354.

Saunders, N.A., T.G. Harrison, A. Haththotuwa, N. Kachwalla, and A.G. Taylor. 1990. A method for typing strains of *Legionella pneumophila* serogroup I by analysis of restriction fragment length polymorphisms. J. Med. Microbiol. **31**:45-55.

Scheu, P.M., K. Berghof, and U. Stahl. 1998. Detection of pathogenic and spoilage microorganisms in food with the polymerase chain reaction. Food Microbiol. 15:13-31.

Schlichting, C., C. Branger, J.-M. Fournier, W. Witte, A. Boutonnier, C. Wolz, P. Goullet, and G. Döring. 1993. Typing of *Staphylococcus aureus* by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis, zymotyping, capsular typing, and phage typing: resolution of clonal relationships. J. Clin. Microbiol. **31**:227-232.

Schins, J.M., A. Agronskaya, B.G. de Grooth, and J. Greve. 1998. New technique for high resolution DNA sizing in epi-illumination. Cytometry **32**:132-136.

Schlundt, J. 2002. New directions in foodborne disease prevention. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 78:3-17.

Schwartz, D.C., and C.R. Cantor. 1984. Separation of yeast chromosome-sized DNAs by pulsed field gradient gel electrophoresis. Cell. **37:**67-75.

Sergeev, N., M. Distler, S. Courtney, S.F. AL-Khadi, D. Volokhov, V. Chizhikov, and A. Rasooly. 2004. Multipathogen oligonucleotide microarray for environmental and biodefence applications. Biosens. Biotech. 20:684-698.

Sergeev, N, M. Distler, M. Vargas, V. Chizhikov, K.E. Herold, and A. Rasooly. 2006. Microarray analysis of *Bacillus cereus* group virulence factors. J. Microbiol. Methods **65**:488-502.

Settanni, L., and A. Corsetti. 2007. The use of multiplex PCR to detect and differentiate foodand beverage-associated microorganisms: a review. J. Microbiol. Methods. 69:1-22.

Stackebrandt, E., and J. Ebers. 2006. Taxonomic parameters revisited: tarnished gold standards. Microbiol. Today **33:**152-155.

Steen, H.B. 2000. Flow cytometry of bacteria:glimpses from the past with a view to the future. J. Microbiol. Methods **42:**65-74.

Suárez, A.M., J.M. Rodríguez, P.E. Hernández, and J.I. Azcona-Olivera. 1996a. Generation of polyclonal antibodies against nisin: immunization strategies and immunoassay development. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **62:**2117-2121.

Suárez, A.M., J.M. Rodríguez, P. Morales, P.E. Hernández, and J.I. Azcona-Olivera. 1996b. Development of monoclonal antibodies to the lantibiotic nisin A. J. Agric. Food Chem. **44:**2936-2940.

Sugita-Konishi, Y., Y. Hara-Kudo, T. Iwamoto, and K. Kondo. 2001. Wine has activity against entero-pathogenic bacteria *in vitro* but not *in vivo*. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. **65**:954-957.

Suihko, M.-L., and E. Stackebrandt. 2003. Identification of aerobic mesophilic bacilli isolated from board and paper products containing recycled papers. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94:25-34.

Swaminathan, B., T.J. Barrett, S.B. Hunter, R.V. Tauxe, and the CDC PulseNet Task Force. 2001. PulseNet: The molecular subtyping network for foodborne bacterial disease surveillance, United States. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 7:382-389.

Taylor, J.M.W., A.D. Sutherland, K.E. Aidoo, and N.A. Logan. 2005. Heat-stable toxin production by strains of *Bacillus cereus, Bacillus firmus, Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus simplex* and *Bacillus licheniformis*. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 242:313-317.

Tenover, F.C, R.D. Arbeit, R.V. Goering, P.A. Mickelsen, B.E. Murray, D.H. Persing, and B. Swaminathan. 1995. Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. J. Clin. Microbiol. **33**:2233-2239.

Thomas, L.V., M.R. Clarkson, and J. Delves-Broughton. 2000. Nisin, pp. 463-524. *In* A.S. Naidu (ed.), Natural food antimicrobial systems. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA.

Touron, A., T. Berthe, B. Pawlak, and F. Petit. 2005. Detection of *Salmonella* in environmental water and sediment by a nested-multiplex polymerase chain reaction assay. Res. Microbiol. **156**:541-553.

Towner, K.J., and A. Cockayne. 1993. Molecular methods for microbial identification and typing, pp. 1-202. 1st ed. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.

Tramer, J., and J.J. Fowler. 1964. Estimation of nisin in foods. J. Sci. Food Agric. 15:522-528.

Trousseillier, M., C. Courties, and A. Vaguer. 1993. Recent applications of flow cytometry in aquatic microbial ecology. Biol. Cell. 78: 111-121.

Tyagi, S., and F.R. Kramer. 1996. Molecular beacons: probes that fluoresces upon hybridization. Nat. Biotechnol. **14:**303-308.

Ueckert, J., P. Breeuwer, T. Abee, P. Stephens, G. Nebe von Caron, and P.F. ter Steeg. 1995. Flow cytometric applications in physiological study and detection of foodborne microorganisms. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **28:**317-326.

Valsangiacomo, C., F. Baggi, V. Gaia, T. Balmelli, R. Peducci, and J. Piffaretti. 1995. Use of amplified fragment polymorphism in molecular typing of *Legionella pneumophila* and application to epidemiological studies. J. Clin. Microbiol. **33**:1716-1719.

van Belkum, A., P.T. Tassios, L. Dijkhoorn, S. Haeggman, B. Cookson, N.K. Fry, V. Fussing, J. Green, E. Feil, P. Gerner-Smidt, S. Brisse, and M. Struelens. 2007. Guidelines for the validation and application of typing methods for use in bacterial epidemiology. Clin. Microbiol. Inf. Dis. 13:1-46.

Vandamme, P., B. Pot, M. Gillis, P. de Vos, K. Kersters, and J. Swings. 1996. Polyphasic taxonomy, a concensus approach to bacterial systematics. Mirobiol. Rev. 60:407-438.

Vos, P., R. Hogers, M. Bleeker, M. Rijans, T. van de Lee, M. Hornes, A. Frijters, J. Pot, J. Peleman, M. Kuiper, and M. Zabeau. 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acid Res. 23:4407-4414.

Wahlström, G., and P.E.J. Saris. 1999. Nisin bioassay based on luminescence. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:3742-3745.

Wang, Q., G.M. Garrity, J.M. Tiedje, and J.R. Cole. 2007a. Naïve Bayesian classifier for rapid assignment of rRNA sequences into the new bacterial taxonomy. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **73:**5261-5267.

Wang, X.-W., L. Zhang, L.-Q. Jin, M. Jin, Z.-Q. Shen, S. An, F.-H. Chao, and J.-W. Li. 2007b. Development and application of an oligonucleotide microarray for the detection of food-borne bacterial pathogens. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **76**:225-233.

Weisburg, W.G., S.M. Barns, D.A. Pellettier, and D.J. Lane. 1991. 16S ribosomal DNA amplification for phylogenetic studies. J. Bacteriol. **173**:697-703.

Weisse, M.E., B. Eberly, and D.A. Person. 1995. Wine as a digestive aid: comparative antimicrobial effects of bismuth salicylate and red and white wine. Br. Med. J. **311**:1657-1660.

Wijman, J.G.E., P.P.L.A. de Leeuw, R. Moezelaar, M.H. Zwietering, and T. Abee. 2007. Air-liquid interface biofilms of *B. cereus*: formation, sporulation, and dispersion. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **73:**1481-1488.

Woese, C.R. 1987. Bacterial evolution. Microbiol. Rev. 51:221-271.

Woteki, C.E., and B.D. Kineman. 2003. Challenges and approaches to reducing foodborne illness. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 23:315-344.

Yamaguchi, N., M. Sasada, M. Yamanaka, and M. Nasu. 2003. Rapid detection of respiring *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in apple juice, milk, ground beef by flow cytometry. Cytometry A **54A:**27-35.

Yan, W., N. Chang, and D.E. Taylor. 1991. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* genomic DNA and its epidemiologic application. J. Infec. Dis. 163:1068-1072.

Yan, X., R.C. Habbersett, J.M. Cordek, J.P. Nolan, T.M. Yoshida, J.H. Jett, and B.L. Marrone. 2000. Development of a mechanism-based, DNA staining protocol using SYTOX Orange nucleic acid stain and DNA fragment sizing flow cytometry. Anal. Biochem. **286**:138-148.

Yan, X., W.K. Grace, T.M. Yoshida, R.C. Habbersett, N. Velappan, J.H. Jett, R.A. Keller, and B.L. Marrone. 1999. Characteristics of different nucleic acid staining dyes for DNA fragment sizing by flow cytometry. Anal Chem. 71:5470-5480.

Yang, H., and J. Irudayaraj. 2003. Rapid detection of foodborne microorganisms on food surface using Fourier transform Raman spectroscopy. J. Mol. Struct. **646**:35-43.

Yaron, S., and K.R. Matthews. 2002. A reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction assay for detection of viable *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: investigation of specific target genes. J. Appl. Microbiol. **92:**633-640.

Zhao, T., and M.P. Doyle. 2001. Evaluation of universal pre-enrichment broth for growth of heat-injured pathogens. J. Food Prot. 64:1751-1755.

Zhong, W., Y. Shou, T.M. Yoshida, and B.L. Marrone. 2007. Differentiation of *Bacillus anthracis, B. cereus, and B. thuringiensis* by using pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **73:**3446-3449.